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Friday, July 21, 2006


--- Upon commencing at 9:02 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.   

     Good morning, everyone.  Today is the eighth day in the hearing of EB-2006-0021 proceeding to address a number of current and common issues relating to demand side management activities for natural gas utilities.  The Board may make orders to Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas as a result of this proceeding.  

     Today we have the examination of the witness panel from the Low-Income Energy Network and Green Energy Coalition.  

Are there any preliminary matters?  None?  

Ms. Abouchar, do you want to introduce your witness? 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  With us today is Mr. Rogers. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you turn your mike on, please.

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  With us today is Roger Colton, and I would like to have him sworn in, please, as a witness.  


LOW-INCOME ENERGY NETWORK – PANEL 1:

Roger Colton, Sworn  

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Ms. Abouchar.  


EXAMINATION BY MS. ABOUCHAR:

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton will be referring to a number of exhibits, and I thought I would just get them out at the beginning.  

First will be Exhibit L, tab 10, Mr. Colton's evidence, along with his CV.  

Second is an undertaking that includes further additions to his CV.  It includes his educational information, and that is undertaking JT3.18.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Ms. Abouchar.  JT3 -- 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  .18.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Third is a document that was provided to the Board and circulated on Monday.  It is a document entitled “Low-Income Energy Efficiency Program,” prepared by the Toronto Environmental Alliance for the Ontario Power Authority’s Conservation Bureau, dated March 2006.  I would like to have that marked as an exhibit, please.  

     MR. MILLAR:  K8.1, Madam Chair.  

     EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED “LOW-INCOME
ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM”

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you.  Fourth is a document that was circulated yesterday entitled “Notes to Calculation of 

Low-income Households in Enbridge's Franchise.”  It is two pages of spreadsheet and notes.  

     EXHIBIT K8.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED “NOTES TO 
CALCULATION OF LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLDS”  

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm not sure that we have that one.  

Mr. Bell, do you have that?  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  We will also be referring to an exhibit of Enbridge's Exhibit 6.3.  It is a chart.  

     MS. NOWINA:  In your evidence?  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  An exhibit that was filed on day 6 of the hearing.  We're just going to be referring to it. 

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm just looking for the reference, 6.3.  K6.3?  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  K6.3.  Excuse me.   

     [Mr. Bell passes out the document] 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  May I continue?  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Ms. Abouchar.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, please state your name for the court reporter.  

     MR. COLTON:  My name is Roger Colton, C-O-L-T-O-N.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I will just lead the witness through his qualifications in order to speed things up.  

Mr. Colton, from your undertaking JT3.18, you have a law degree from the University of Florida in 1981 and a master’s degree in economics from Antioch University in 1993? 

     MR. COLTON:  I do.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And from your CV, you are a consultant with Fisher, Sheehan & Colton?  

     MR. COLTON:  I am.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  What services do you provide as a consultant?  

     MR. COLTON:  The focus of my services is on low-income energy issues.  I work with public utilities, both natural gas and electric, water, telecommunications, utilities to design -- help design and implement programs, including energy efficiency programs.  

     I help evaluate programs and I help cost out programs, if you will.  Develop budgets for programs.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And your CV has a number of pages of publications and participation in hearings.  Could you just summarize for the board your experience on your CV dealing with low-income DSM programming?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, rather than trying to summarize the last 20 years, which would take some time, let me explain just the last year.  

In the last year -- it has been typical.  I have worked with agencies such as the Georgia Department of Human Rights to both design and help evaluate what's called the Georgia Reach Program.  

The Georgia Reach Program has a component in it which involved doing lower door tests on low-income households, to do air sealing, to do appliance replacements, both natural gas appliances, hot water heaters and electric appliances.  

     I have worked with the Ohio Office of Development, or the Department of Development, DOD, to evaluate the Ohio weatherization program.  

     I have been working with HUD, the US Department of Housing and Urban Development, to increase the ties between low-income energy efficiency programs and affordable housing programs that are funded, in part, through the federal government.  

I have worked with non-profit -- a non-profit organization in New Mexico to help draft rules in a proceeding very much like today or here in Ontario, dealing with the design and implementation and delivery of low-income energy efficiency programs.  

     So I work throughout the country.  I work for a variety of utilities, non-profit organizations and government agencies on the design, implementation, and evaluation of energy efficiency programs.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you, Mr. Colton.  

At this point, I would like to put Mr. Colton forward as an expert in low-income DSM program design.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Any comments from other parties?  

     MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  The Board will accept Mr. Colton as an expert in that area.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR: Thank you.  

     Mr. Colton, you prepared a report to assist the Board for this hearing entitled “Low-income Energy Efficiency in 

Ontario.”  Do you adopt that evidence today?  

     MR. COLTON:  I do.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And have you reviewed the partial settlement that the utilities and some of the intervenors have signed on to?  

     MR. COLTON:  I have reviewed the parts -- I have reviewed the parts of the partial settlement that relate to the issues on which I provided testimony, yes.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Do you have that with you?  


MR. COLTON:  I do.


MS. ABOUCHAR:  You will be referring to that today?  


MR. COLRON:  Yes.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I would like to take you through three aspects of the partial settlement and ask you to contrast your position and evidence with the deal that is being proposed.  

     Those three aspects are issue 1.3, which is total DSM 

budget; issue 1.7, which is targeting DSM spending among customer classes; and issue 13, which is a proposed DSM program targeted to low-income households.  


MR. COLTON:  Okay.


MS. ABOUCHAR:  Not the program but principles or design of a program.


So starting first, then, with issue 1.3, the total DSM budget.  Could you, please, contrast your view with the proposed DSM budgets for the next three years.
     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I might.  There is no evidence in Mr. Colton's prefiled evidence at all with respect to the budget.  In fact, he confirmed at the Technical Conference he has no specific proposal with respect to the absolute level of the budget.  And whether it is in the partial settlement or otherwise, I don't think it is fair game for Ms. Abouchar to elicit Mr. Colton's view on the absolute level of the budget, particularly after having qualified him on the issue of low-income program design specifically.
     MS. NOWINA:  I would like to hear what he says.  I doubt -- well, let's see if he is going to talk about a number.  Let's hear his response.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, do you want me to repeat the question?  Or did you ...     

MR. COLTON:  No.  My testimony indicated that there were really two tests to apply in defining how much money should be spent an energy efficiency program.  

When I say "energy efficiency," I actually mean energy efficiency and DSM to be synonymous for purposes of my testimony today.
     The two tests are, first, that a utility should exhaust all of the available cost-effective energy efficiency that is available on its system; and second, that the utilities should prevent lost opportunities for energy efficiency investments on their system.
     In fact, I do not have an opinion about the level of a budget for the commercial classes and industrial class.  I don't do commercial DSM and industrial DSM.
     However, within the residential class and looking at the low-income, at the residential class as it would affect the -- affect and be affected by the low-income population, I can conclude that the budget that has been proposed, if allocated proportionately between classes, would be inadequate; that within the low-income population, if you adopt the principle of proportionality, which I have proposed and which LIEN has proposed, it would take literally decades to reach the entire low-income population, and therefore the budget would be in violation of the first principle that I have proposed, that utilities exhaust all cost-effective investments in energy efficiency.
     In addition, when I say that it would take literally decades to reach the entire eligible low-income population, in reaching the entire eligible low-income population the investment per household is significantly below what would be a comprehensive treatment of those households.  That's assuming that the utilities -- my conclusion that the utilities would take decades, assumes that the utilities continue to invest at the rate of about $200, or $200 to $300 per household, rather than doing comprehensive energy efficiency treatments.
     And by doing that, the utilities are not only preventing lost opportunities, but they are creating lost opportunities, because once a low-income household has been treated with energy efficiency and not treated comprehensively, but once a low-income household has been treated with energy efficiency, the odds of someone going back and treating that household again, to increase the comprehensiveness of the investments, are next to nothing, are virtually non-existent.  So the budget would not only not prevent lost opportunities, but the budget would create lost opportunities within the residential and the low-income residential populations.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you, Mr. Colton.  Moving to the second issue, issue 1.7, the proposal on the table is not to target DSM spending among consumer classes.
     How does this contrast with your understanding of low-income DSM programming?
     MR. COLTON:  The proposal in section 1.7 of the partial settlement, I believe, creates an unreasonable decision process on how to allocate energy efficiency dollars between classes.
     My testimony has been that this is a rule-making proceeding and that the Board should adopt a principle to determine or to govern how the allocation of costs should be.
     And the principle that I have proposed is a principle of proportionality; the principle that the residential class should receive energy efficiency investments proportionate to the residential contribution of revenues to total company revenues and then, extending that, that the low-income population should receive investments in energy efficiency proportionate to the contribution that low-income residential customers make to total residential revenue.  So the principle of proportionality.
     Section 1.7 of the partial settlement doesn't adopt a principled basis.  What section 1.7 says is that the allocations of energy efficiency dollars really should be done on a case-by-case determination with the utility making its proposal, or their proposals, on how they seek to allocate the energy efficiency dollars and, if someone disagrees with those allocations, then it will be brought to the Board in a complaint proceeding and the Board will make a determination on a case-by-case basis.
     But section 1.7, even when you -- even if one were to adopt that procedure, section 1.7 doesn't provide any principle for the Board to apply in deciding upon whether the utilities' allocation is appropriate or inappropriate.
     So rather than having the case-by-case determination of section 1.7, what I would propose is that there be this principle of proportionality.  That's more than simply an ideological perspective.   There are real program implications to adopting a principle of proportionality rather than doing it case by case.
     When one -- from a program perspective, a program design perspective or program implementation perspective, what I need as a service provider, a provider of energy efficiency services, is some certainty in the budget from year to year, because otherwise I don't have the capacity to or the certainty to go out, hire my crews, train my crews, and be able to keep my crews on a year-to-year basis.
     And adopting the principle of proportionality will allow that efficiency and effectiveness and program delivery to occur; whereas, the case-by-case determination proposed in section 1.7 would not.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Moving then to the third issue, issue 13, the low-income issue.  The proposal fixes a number, 1.3 million, or 14 percent of residential DSM budget.
     Can you contrast your proposal with that proposal?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  The section 13.1 really can be divided into three parts, and I would like to set two of those parts aside, if I might.
     There are three full paragraphs in section 13.1.  The second full paragraph relates to expenditures on market transformation programs, and I offer no opinion on that paragraph.
     The third full paragraph relates to establishing a spending floor that relates to fuel switching, and I offer no opinion on that.  

     So my testimony really relates to the first full paragraph.  And section 13.1 is contrary to my testimony and, I believe, is misguided and inappropriate in three ways.  


First is that the 14 percent figure is an incorrect figure.  I appreciate the fact that I believe whoever drafted this partial settlement took that 14 percent from my testimony and believed that they were using a correct figure, but they misused - I don't say that in a pejorative sense - but they misused the 14 percent.  

The 14 percent was included in a footnote of my testimony which related to LIEN's interest, to describing LIEN's interest in this proceeding.  It wasn't designed to set forth the number of potential low-income customers that might be eligible for energy efficiency.  

     The 14 percent related to further -- to individuals who lived at or below 100 percent of the low-income cut-off.  In fact, the LIEN proposal was directed toward 125 percent of the LICO, the low-income cut-off.  So the 14 percent would differ because it applies to a different population from which the population which LIEN proposed.  

     In addition, and more importantly - or as importantly - the 14 percent applies to persons in Ontario and not to households in Ontario.  

In fact, when you look at the underlying demographics of Ontario and when you look at the underlying demographics of low-income folks in Ontario, there is a higher percentage of households that are low-income than there is of persons that are low-income.  And all that means is that low-income households have fewer persons per household, but while there are 14 percent of the persons that are at or below LICO – LICO is the low-income cut-off -- while there are 14 percent of all persons that are below the low-income cut-off, there are 18 percent of all households that are at or below the low-income cut-off.  

     So the first thing is simply that that number was misapplied.  There was just a mistake in using the 14 percent.  

     The second thing is that the section 13.1 doesn't adopt the rule of proportionality.  It really sets a number of 14 percent, or $1.3 million dollars.  

     My testimony has been that the Board should adopt a rule of proportionality and that adopting that principle is much more important than adopting a particular number.  


The third problem that I have with section 13.1 is that it ties the low-income expenditures to residential expenditures.  And doing that would be okay if the allocation of energy efficiency expenditures between customer classes was proportionate.  

     So if the residential customer class always received its proportionate share of the total energy efficiency expenditures, then tying low-income energy efficiency expenditures to the residential class would be okay.  I won't say “appropriate,” but it would be okay.  

     However, section 13.1 doesn't provide for a continuing proportionate allocation of all energy efficiency expenditures, doesn't provide for a continuing allocation to the residential class of its proportionate share of total energy efficiency expenditures.  It allows the residential class to dip below its proportionate share.  Indeed, under 13.1, the residential class could go to near zero or 20.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Under 1.7?  

     MR. COLTON:  What?  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  You said 13.1, it could go ... 1.7 -- 

     MR. COLTON:  I'm sorry.  Under 1.7.  You're right; under 1.7.  

     So under 1.7 the residential class could below its proportionate share and indeed could go to at or near zero.  

     So in that instance, the low-income proportionality should be tied to total energy efficiency expenditures and total revenues, rather than being tied to residential expenditures and residential revenues. 

     To summarize, the 14 percent figure is simply a mistake.  It was just a mistake.  

     Two is that it is not rules-based.  

And my third problem is that 13.1 ties low-income energy efficiency only to residential expenditures and residential -- the residential class, rather than tying it to the total energy efficiency expenditures and the total revenues.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  What kinds of benefits does a low-income program bring?  

     MR. COLTON:  My testimony indicates that a low-income program, of course, brings the same benefits as all other energy efficiency measures, because low-income energy efficiency investments are identical to residential, commercial, and industrial energy efficiency investments in that they have to be cost-effective in order to be approved.  

     And so the delivery of a cost-effective demand side energy service will offer long-term life cycle cost savings to the utility.  And the low-income energy efficiency investment is no different from any other energy efficiency investment in that benefit.  

     There is an added advantage to low-income energy efficiency investment, however, that no other energy efficiency investment brings.  What we're trying to do with energy efficiency is to shrink the dollars of revenue requirement that are passed through to ratepayers in a rate case.  And one of the ways we shrink that pot of dollars of revenue requirement is by delivering in energy efficiency investment that is cheaper than the supply of natural gas.  But with low-income energy efficiency investments, we further shrink the dollars of revenue requirement by addressing the underlying affordability of low-income energy bills.  And by helping to address those affordability issues, that has the business impact of -- and it's been documented, as I presented it in my testimony -- it has the business impact of reducing arrears and therefore reducing working capital requirements.  

It has the business impact of reducing uncollectible accounts.  It has the business impact of reducing -- when I say “business impact,” I mean the revenue requirement impact of reducing credit and collection activities.  

     And each of those added benefits, which is above and beyond the benefits on the providing a cost effective alternative to supply, each of those added benefits helps further shrink the pot of dollars that has to be passed through to ratepayers in the next rate case.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton -- sorry.
     MR. COLTON:  So to sum, it has the same advantages that all other energy efficiency has, plus it has the added advantages of shrinking that revenue requirement associated with non-payment.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, what, if any, effect does the snap-back effect have on those benefits?
     MR. COLTON:  The snap-back effect?  Well, I certainly can't deny that there can be a snap-back effect.  The work that I've done throughout the United States has indicated that low-income folks who cannot afford their home energy bills go to extraordinary measures to try to address that inability-to-pay problem.
     They will close off rooms.  They will keep their homes at unreasonably cold temperatures.  They make considerable sacrifice because of their inability to pay.
     When one makes energy more affordable through energy efficiency, it is entirely reasonable to expect that to some degree somebody who has closed off a room because they couldn't afford to heat it might not close off that room because now they can afford to heat it and, in essence, take back some of the savings that has been provided through the energy efficiency measures.
     Notwithstanding that -- notwithstanding that -- I was going to say my wife tells me I'm the only person that she knows that uses the word "notwithstanding" in polite company.  

But notwithstanding that, what we have found with low-income energy efficiency investments is that comprehensive low-income energy efficiency investments will generate savings of 25 to 35 percent or -- yes, 25 to 35 percent, even setting aside the snap-back effect.
     So there is a measurement not of the savings that are attributable to the energy efficiency measures, but there is a measurement of the net reduction in consumption that results from the energy efficiency investments which will take -- and I say the net results.  It takes all of the savings attributable to the efficiency investments, nets out whatever snap-back effect, if any, occurs, and there's still a 25 to 30 or 25 to 35 percent savings that will occur because of the energy efficiency investment.
     So I don't deny that there may be a snap-back effect, but every low-income program that I've worked with has found not only savings resulting from the energy efficiency investments but substantial savings from the energy efficiency investments, despite whatever snap-back effect, if any, might exist.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Turning to a different subject.  Enbridge has put together an exhibit, K6.3.  Have you had an opportunity to review that document?
     MR. COLTON:  I have.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And you have prepared, I guess, a document in response that we have introduced as Exhibit K8.2.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes, we have.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Can you -- just spending a moment on the first table in that spreadsheet that responds directly to Exhibit K6.3, can you contrast that information with the information that you have about the proportion of -- about the percentage of population that would be eligible for low-income programs.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes, I can.  My conclusion is that Exhibit K6.3 has significant data problems and significant methodological problems and is an inappropriate and inadequate basis upon which to reach any conclusion about the percentage of low-income customers that may be eligible for energy efficiency measures.
     I will go through this --
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Just before you do -- sorry to interrupt, Mr. Colton.  Just so that the people understand the chart:  On the left-hand side of the first table are the figures that you looked at on Exhibit K6.3; is that correct?
     MR. COLTON:  That's correct.  Lines 1 through 12 in Exhibit K8.2 correspond to the lines 1 through 12 in Exhibit K6.3.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Then over on the right hand side, there is some other figures.  What do those represent?
     MR. COLTON:  These other figures are my figures which will indicate or which do indicate that even making small adjustments to the company's methodology and data will make significant differences in the results.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Okay.  So perhaps you could take us through the lines that you have identified and made changes to.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  The first line to look at is line number 1, where the company has reported that there are 759,590 low-income households in Ontario.
     In fact, what that 759,000 number reports is the number of households that are at or below 100 percent of low-income cut-off, LICO.  If you look at Exhibit K.3, the company references as its source document the Toronto Environmental Alliance Report to OPA.  And if you look at that Toronto Environmental Alliance report itself, even the Toronto Environmental Alliance report said that the appropriate line to use for eligibility for energy efficiency programs is either 125 percent of LICO or 150 percent of LICO.  In fact, I have recommended 125 percent.
     So even the source document that the company used doesn't use the definition of low-income which the company did.
     If instead of looking at 100 percent of LICO, you simply move up to 125 percent of LICO; and, making some assumptions along the way, instead of having 759,000 households to begin with, you have 950,000 households to begin with -- and that’s the difference between 100 percent of LICO and 125 percent of LICO.
     Secondly, you move down to line 4, and the company calculates that the percentage of the Ontario population living in the EGD service territory is 55 percent.  That may well be a correct figure, that the percentage of people living in Ontario which live in the EGD franchise or the EGD service territory is 55 percent, but as I previously indicated and as StatsCanada reports, the population of households in Ontario is bigger than the -- strike that.
     The population of households in Toronto is bigger than the population of persons.  There are -- 18 percent of low-income households live in Toronto; whereas, 14 percent of low-income persons.
     What that means is that low-income households - and StatsCanada will indicate that Toronto households generally - have fewer people per household.  So that 55 percent number which is related to people can't be translated over to households.  There will be a larger number of households.  

     I sort of muddled that, but the conclusion is that the number of households will be bigger because the people per household in Toronto is smaller, and so that number can't just be translated over.  

     You go down to line number 6, then -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Colton, can I interrupt you just to make sure I understand.  The 58 percent number that you have in your column, is that an actual number based on households, or are you just estimating and, from the 55 percent, you're just adding some percentages?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, it's a combination of those two.  I looked at the household size in Toronto and made what we in the consulting business called a reasoned judgment.  But it's not a real number; it is a judgment on my part.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  

     MR. COLTON:  Absolutely.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. COLTON:  The 35 percent down on line 6 is the percentage of homeowners which the company reports.  Again, the company takes that out of the report, out of the Toronto Environmental Alliance report.  And that 35 percent figure refers to the percentage of homeowners within the population at or below 100 percent of the low-income cut-off.  

     The problem is that if you extend the home ownership rate up the income ladder and if you move it simply from 100 percent of LICO up to 125 percent or 150 percent of LICO, the percentage of population of households that is a homeowner sharply increases.  

To give just one example:  If you look at the home ownership rate of the second decile of income in Ontario, the home ownership rate there is about 27 percent.  The home ownership rate in the third decile of income is over 54 percent.  So right in the second decile of income is about 100 percent of LICO.  But the point is that there is not simply an uptick in home ownership rates, but there is a sharp increase in home ownership rates as one goes above the 100 percent of LICO.  

     And I have adjusted the 35 percent to take into account that sharp increase in home ownership rates.  And the 41 percent figure that is here, in response to Madam Chairman's question, is in fact empirically based.  That is not a reasoned judgment.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, was that based in the information in your undertaking, the decile chart?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  No, because this Exhibit K6.3 was simply provided this week, so I didn't have this information or the need for this information before we got K6.3.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  But did you use the decile chart to make your corrections?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  The fourth issue with K6.3 is that the company uses a 61 percent penetration rate for natural gas within the low-income population.  That 61 percent has a couple of problems with it.  

     One is that it is a little old; that the more recent number is actually 64 percent.  

But in addition, the 61 percent applies to -- they've applied to all low-income housing units, and those low-income housing units include both those who pay for their energy and rent and those who don't pay for their energy and rent.  

     What the company should have done and what I would have done if I were doing an energy needs analysis - which I have done in 20 or 30 states now - is to apply a penetration rate for natural gas to housing units that have their energy included in their rent, and then to apply a natural gas penetration rate to housing units that are individually metered.  

     By applying the 61 percent figure to the total population of housing units and then excluding 75 percent of the housing units as being units that have energy included in their rent, what the company is doing is taking some of those natural gas customers and excluding them as having their energy bills included in their rent; whereas, in fact, the households that have their energy bills included in their rent are the large multi-story rental developments that are electrically heated.    

     So the penetration rate of natural gas in the population of housing units that pay for their own energy is much higher than 61 percent.  There should have been two different numbers used there.  

     I have looked again at StatsCanada data.  Statistics 

Canada would indicate to me -- and you can't use the summary tables from Statistics Canada.  You really need to get into the microdata to make this absolutely accurate.  Since this only was provided on Wednesday, I haven't had the opportunity to do that.  

     But looking at the summary tables that are available, it would seem to indicate to me that the penetration of natural gas within the population of housing units that pay for their own heating is going to be in the 75 to 80 percent range.  I took the lower end of that and used 75 percent.  


So those are the four problems I had with K6.3.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Now, Mr. O'Leary was kind enough to 

e-mail to me on Tuesday night an exhibit - I guess on Wednesday night - an exhibit which he said he might be putting to you on cross-examination.  

     That exhibit was reference K7.xx.  It hasn't actually been introduced yet but was provided to me to put to you, and I put it to you.  And you've done an analysis of that chart as well.  

     Could you just take us through your concerns -- the exhibit has not been made an exhibit or given to the panel, but I understand that you took the numbers from Mr. O'Leary's document and put them again in the left-hand side of your second table.  

     MR. COLTON:  I did.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Since I am anticipating that it will be shown to you, could you take us through your concerns again with the calculations in that table?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, the table which I intend to use for the purposes of cross-examination was sent to my friend both under the rules and as a courtesy to indicate that I would be taking the witness there.  

     It has not been circulated to everyone, and I had intended to introduce it in my cross-examination, and I would respectfully suggest it is inappropriate to deal with this in evidence in-chief and it is more properly dealt with -- let Mr. Colton respond to the table when I do it in cross.

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I have no concern with that as long as Mr. Colton has the opportunity to deal with it and I can deal with it in reply. 

     MS. NOWINA:  If Mr. O'Leary puts it to him, he will have the opportunity to respond to it.  So why don't we leave it for that.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR: Okay.  Mr. Colton, what is the bottom line here?  Are you adopting as your recommendation to the Board the numbers that you have provided on the right-hand side of your recalculation?  Is that your recommendation to the Board?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  My conclusion is simply that, two-fold.  My conclusion is two-fold.
     One is that the Exhibit K6.3 has significant methodological and data errors in it, and it is inappropriate to rely upon that because it is inaccurate.
     Secondly is that my exhibit shows - and this goes to the issue that Madam Chair raised in your question to me - it shows that relatively small changes in these numbers make a huge difference in the bottom line; that when I talk about the methodological and data problems, those aren't quibbles; that making those changes result in illustratively a underspending on low-income based on proportionality of between 50 and 70 percent.
     So those are the two conclusions that I reach.  One is that 6.3 is inaccurate and inappropriate to use; and two, that when I say that, that there are significant dollars at issue and there could be major differences.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, could you summarize, then, your recommendation to the Board on the low-income program, principles for the low-income program.
     MR. COLTON:  Well, my recommendations were set out in my witness statement, but there should be a low-income program -- an energy efficiency program directed toward low-income customers as low-income customers.
     The spending on the low-income program should be proportionate to the contribution that low-income customers make to total residential revenue, assuming that the energy efficiency budget for the residential class is proportionate to its revenue.
     If the residential energy efficiency budget is not proportionate to the residential revenue, then the low-income budget should be set equal to the proportion of low-income revenue to total company revenue.
     The third major recommendation is that, in assessing the benefits, the cost benefits -- the costs and benefits of the low-income program, it is necessary not only to take into account the supply side benefits that any energy efficiency investment will -- any cost-effective energy efficiency investment will generate, but it is necessary, also, to take into account the additional and special benefits that low-income energy efficiency investments generate, in particular.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And what would you recommend to this Board in this situation as a percentage expenditure to match the proportionate -- your proportionate principle?
     MR. COLTON:  I believe that the best available number to use is 18 percent of the total residential budget should be devoted to low-income energy efficiency.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And you mentioned before a caveat to the total residential budget tie-in.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  That assumes that the total residential budget is allocated on a proportionality principle; that the total residential budget is proportionate to the contribution that the residential class as a whole makes to total company revenues.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  If that is not the case, if this Board doesn't require proportionality amongst rate classes, what's your recommendation?
     MR. COLTON:  That the low-income revenues be set equal to a percentage of total company revenues and that that proportionality be used instead.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Could you finally just explain to the Board why 18 percent is your best judgment in this case?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  18 percent is the proportion of low-income Ontario households.  It is the proportion of Ontario households that are low-income.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And why is that -- you have talked about 100 percent of LICO versus 125 percent of LICO.  Why, in this situation, do you think, 18 percent is appropriate?
     MR. COLTON:  Because I think that the -- one can go nuts, to use a technical term, trying to get the percentage down to a particular decimal point, which is one reason that I suggested that it's -- the principle of proportionality is much more important to adopt than any particular number.
     But 18 percent is the number of households.  You will adjust that somewhat upwards, because we are recommending 125 percent of LICO, rather than 100 percent of LICO.
     You then adjust that somewhat downward because there is a proportion of renters that pay their bills as part of their rents, rather than being individually metered.  There are adjustments that you make up and down.  And so I recommend that the 14 percent figure that was evidently reasonable and acceptable to everybody who signed the proposed settlement should simply be corrected to use the figure that's applicable to households, rather than persons.
     I'm simply using the number that was accepted in the proposed settlement but making the correction for the mistake there that was made.
     MS. ABOUCHAR: Mr. Colton, thank you.  That's my examination in-chief.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Abouchar.  

Mr. Millar.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Good morning, Mr. Colton.  I just wanted to follow up with something I heard in your examination in-chief.  Under 1.7 - I think you said this several times - you're proposing that the Board adopt the proportionality principle.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  And I, in fact, put a very similar question to the utilities when they were up, asking them why they're not proposing to adopt proportionality.  

I'm not sure if you have had an opportunity to look at the transcripts or if you happened to be listening in, but if I could summarize their answer.  There was a concern from the utilities that if we force budget amounts to certain customer classes, they may have difficulty spending that money in a cost-effective manner.  They may run out of programs that meet the TRC threshold.  I think that is a fair summary of their answer, though Mr. Smith or Mr. O'Leary may well correct me if I'm wrong.
     Do you have any comments on that, or any response to that potential problem?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes, I do.  What's being proposed for the low-income class is not that there will be different programs over time, and the reason that there will be investments and energy efficiency over multiple years, decades, as I indicated, is not because there will be different programs that will be delivered, but there will be a comprehensive delivery of the same program to residential -- low-income residential customers.  But there are so many low-income residential customers, it will take many, many years to reach all of those eligible customers.
     So within the low-income class, it's not as though we're going to do or we're proposing to do program A for years 1 through 5 and then program B in years 6 through 10 and so on and so forth.  It is that we will do program A, but it will take many years to deliver program A to all of the low-income customer classes.
     So if that is the concern, that is not a concern in the low-income residential population.
     In addition, as I indicated in my testimony and brief, the proportionality test is really necessary to allow service delivery providers or service providers to develop and retain the capacity to deliver comprehensive energy efficiency.  So rather than running out of programs, the proportionality is necessary in order to allow that program to be effectively and efficiently delivered over the course of years.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, I think in fairness to the utilities - and I know you weren't here, so I will flesh it out a little bit more - I don't think they specifically suggested they would have trouble, for example, meeting proportionality for the low-income users.  I think it may simply have been an example that they might have trouble on the commercial side or something like that.  


I don't know if that changes your answer at all, but I don't want to suggest that the utilities were specifically saying they wouldn't be able to spend this money on low-income.  


I think they get commercial, as an example, but I don't know if that was meant to be anything more than an example.  Do you have anything to add, based on that?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     The 18 percent figure that you gave, you indicated in response to Ms. Abouchar that that would be dependent, of course, on the proportionality principle being adopted under 1.7.  Is that correct?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Let's imagine that the Board does not adopt proportionality under 1.7.  Let's imagine they're convinced by the utilities it is not a good idea.  Is there any alternative means that we can get you to where you want to be with the 18 percent?  


Is there a substitute figure or another way we could get to the same level of funding without the proportionality principle being applied?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, again, the two principles are that you exhaust all cost-effective measures on the system and that you prevent lost opportunities.  

     If one were not to adopt the proportionality test, I believe that what would be necessary is for the Ontario Energy Board to say that as a matter of policy we intend to weatherize all low-income households within a certain planning horizon.  And it would be up to the Board to establish what that planning horizon would be, whether it would be -- 5 years is probably unreasonable; 10, 15 years would be reasonable.  

And you would have to say, as a matter of policy, we believe that all low-income eligible households should be treated with energy efficiency within a 10-year period or within a 15-year period and then to establish a budget that would be reasonably calculated toward achieving that policy objective.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Let me throw out an idea for you just to see what you think about it.  Let's imagine that distribution revenues are -- pardon me, that distribution revenues are split evenly, one-third residential, one-third commercial, one-third industrial. Let's imagine the total DSM budget is $100.  And let's say under 1.7 the Board says, no, we're not going to require the utilities to spend the money a third, a third, a third.  They can have that leeway to do that.  

Would it be of assistance to you if the Board said, We're not going to require those spending ratios; however, what we will require is that no matter what you spend, no matter how you split up the pot, you will still have to spend 18 percent of the $33, of the one-third that comes from residential, will have to be spent on low-income?  


So what I'm saying is I guess they would be applying the proportionality principle solely to low-income and allow them to shift the money elsewhere as they saw fit.  

Would that get you where you want to be?  

     MR. COLTON:  Absolutely, and that is what I recommended in my case in-chief.  I apologize.  I thought you were asking me to set that completely aside.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I wasn't clear, so ...

     MR. COLTON:  But what you just proposed would be not only an acceptable alternative, but it is precisely what I proposed in my case. 

     MR. MILLAR:  You don't really care so much if they spend proportionally on their industrial and commercial and residential, for that matter, as long as the low-income people are getting their proper proportion, based on the -- assuming one-third of distribution revenues accrue from residential, you want them to get 18 percent of that?  

     MR. COLTON:  May I be picky only just -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  Please do.  

     MR. COLTON:  -- just for a minute.  It is not that I don't care whether the industrials and commercials get their share.  It's that is beyond the purview of my testimony.  So I just set that aside.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's fair.  

     MR. COLTON:  So within the area that I testify on, the answer is "yes,” that if what you propose were adopted, then that would be appropriate.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  

     Just a couple of clarifications, under 13.1.  You're not proposing any volumetric savings target for low-income?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  You're not proposing any TRC benefits target for low-income?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I heard you say in your examination in-chief that the proposal, the partially settled proposal that we have from the utilities and some of the other parties, in your mind that wasn't a rules-based approach.  I guess that took me a little bit by surprise.  

     I guess I can accept from your point of view it may not be a good rule, but how is their proposal not a rule?  

     MR. COLTON:  Because I don't see a principle to be applied when and if a challenge is raised.  

     Parties may challenge any such explanation or its impacts.  The Board will then determine whether to approve the revised spending ratios.  But when I say it is not a rules-based approach, there is no principle or standard there articulated for the Board to apply when the Board then determines whether to approve the revised spending ratios.  And that is what I meant when I said it wasn't a rules-based approach.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Colton, as I understand their proposal, they’re proposing the budget start at either 1.3 million or 14 percent of the residential DSM budget, whichever is greater.  

     Then they have an escalator built in over the three years.  It is 5 percent for Enbridge and 10 percent for Union.  



Do you consider that to be a rule?  Or is there -- aside from the fact you don't agree with the numbers, would you agree that is a rule?  

     MR. COLTON:  I would agree that that -- yes.  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  While speaking of the escalators, do you propose an escalator of any type?  Or is 18 percent where you want to be?  

     MR. COLTON:  I don't address the escalator.  I don't have an opinion one way or the other. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So you're not proposing 18 percent for year 1, 19 percent for year 2.  It is 18 percent?  

     MR. COLTON:  It is -- yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  

     MR. COLTON:  Actually, can I back up?  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  

     MR. COLTON:  Once again, it's 18 percent, because 18 percent is the proportion.  If, over time the proportion changes, then, as I tried to indicate, adopting the principle of proportionality is more important than the 18 percent.  

     The 18 percent isn't significant unto itself; it is significant because that's the best estimate of the current proportion.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Are you proposing any method or timeline by which that number would be reviewed or updated?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, I think you would simply update it each time you update your DSM plan.  When you look at your DSM plan at -- I believe on the three-year cycle, you would look at the most current StatsCanada data to determine whether that remains a reasonable number.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So for the three years of the plan they're proposing, the 18 percent would be locked in.  Then you might look at it again when you embark on the next -- however long the next plan is?  You might look at that number again?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Issue 13.2, this is the eligibility section.  You're proposing that, I guess, the cut-off point be 125 percent of LICO?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Is there any magic to the number 125?  Why not 100 percent, I guess is the obvious question, but how did you get to 125?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, I deferred to the expertise of the service agencies that make up the low-income energy network to great extent.  But it is generally recognized in Canada that 100 percent of the low-income cut-off doesn't really measure poverty status, just like in the United States.  100 percent of the federal poverty level isn't accepted as really designating what low-income is.
     And program eligibility requirements are set above 100 percent of the federal poverty level, going up to 150, 175, even 200 percent of the poverty level.
     The Toronto Energy Alliance report recommended either 125 percent or 150 percent of LICO.  I simply took the lower number to recommend, but it is generally accepted that LICO understates the poverty in Canada.
     MR. MILLAR:  Now, if we were to adopt -- if the Board were inclined to adopt this rule of 125 percent of LICO, you have actually built in a little bit of wiggle room in your report, right, if -- Madam Chair, I am looking at Mr. Colton's report, on page 12.  The exhibit number, I think you have it in front of you, L-10.  Page 12.  

On the second paragraph, you note:   

“Wherever an income eligibility line is drawn, however, there will be some households that have incomes marginally in excess of that line.”

You go on to note: 

“It would be appropriate to set aside a predetermined proportion of the budget for those households.”

     Again, Board Staff is pushing rules wherever it can, and I see your point there, but do you have a recommendation as to what proportion of the budget should be set aside for those who are marginally in excess of 125 percent?  

MR. COLTON:  I actually don't believe that you can set that by rule.  I would leave that to the discretion of individual utilities as they come in with their DSM plans, because it really is applicable to the local conditions within a utility service territory.
     MR. MILLAR:  So you would leave that to the utility's discretion?
     MR. COLTON:  The percentage that would be taken out of the low-income budget to be set aside for special circumstances for the marginally low-income or the not quite low-income.
     MR. MILLAR:  So if we have a soft cut-off, if I can call it that, of 125, you have noted there may be some people who are at 127 or 128, so they're just marginally over the line.
     But wouldn't it always be the case that -- so maybe you're allowing people with three percent an additional three percent.  But then what about the person who is at four percent?  Is there somewhere where we will actually have a firm, hard cut-off?  There is always going to be someone one percent over the line; isn't that fair to say?
     MR. COLTON:  They teach you that in law school; that when you draw a line, if the line is $100, there will always be somebody at $101.  And it doesn't make any difference where you draw the line.  There is going to be somebody that is one dollar beyond the line.
     I would not limit the -- other than by policy -- the allocation or use of that, those soft dollars, as you referred to.
     I think that if the Board or the staff or some stakeholder believes that those soft dollars are being misused in a DSM plan, then that would be the appropriate place to raise that objection.  But I believe that a utility should be allowed to say that there is a population of customers that may be between 125 and 150 or 125 and 135 that have high expenditures.
     We have -- for example, a utility may come in and say, We have an extraordinary population of low-income senior homeowners, and those low-income senior homeowners all seem to have incomes of about 130 or 135 percent of LICO.  We believe we should be treating those low-income senior homeowners, because those low-income seniors have extraordinary medical bills.  And I believe that a utility should be able to justify setting aside some reasonable proportion of their low-income budget to take into account those sorts of local circumstances.
     MR. MILLAR:  So if we agree that 125 percent is sort of a soft cap, as I have called it, would you be prepared to endorse any hard cap?  Is there some level over which the utilities shouldn't be able to spend their low-income money on some population of people that once you get over X, you simply are no longer entitled to these programs?
     MR. COLTON:  I didn't propose a hard cap, but again drawing on my experience in the States, the hard cap that we've established for programs that have a soft eligibility line of either 150 percent or 175 percent of the federal poverty level has been 200 percent of the federal poverty level.
     My impression from TEA, the Toronto Environmental Alliance, and from conversations with LIEN is that 150 percent of LICO is the equivalent line.  So if you were to establish a hard cap, it would seem that 150 percent of LICO would be a reasonable number to use for this.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  

Now, it occurs to me as I read your evidence, Mr. Colton, a real problem that presents itself is, how are the utilities to determine their customers' income?  How will they know who is at 125 or 100 or 150 or 500 percent, for that matter?
     MR. COLTON:  Well, there are two responses to that.  One is that that's a program design issue, and the utilities, throughout the utility industry, have satisfactorily developed mechanisms to do that.  

There are really two different ways, I believe, that one can do that.  One is to simply use community-based organizations as your service delivery providers to determine the income eligibility.  And as part of one of the undertakings I provided, after the technical session, I provided a report that indicated how that can be done.
     The second way is to simply piggyback the delivery of natural gas DSM with the delivery of electric DSM.  And I don't want to put myself in the middle of the conversation that was going on yesterday, but there is a significant and growing delivery of electric conservation and demand measures in Ontario.  And a joint delivery will help address the issue that you raise.
     MR. MILLAR:  I guess the question, if we piggyback with electrics:  Then the electrics have the same problem, don't they, in determining who are their low-income customers?  

MR. COLTON:  But the electrics, I believe, are a step ahead of the natural gas industry in that they are spending more money and they have agreed already to ramp up quickly.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I think, actually, the gas utilities may have longer experience, although they appear to have currently at least smaller budgets, but I will leave that.
     So if we're using community organizations, you would agree with me that's not going to give you any precise number as to where a particular customer falls on the LICO scale?  Absent seeing someone's tax return, I don't really see how you're going to determine where someone falls on the scale.
     MR. COLTON:  But you don't need to know where somebody falls on the scale.
     MR. MILLAR:  You just need to know they fall behind 125 or 150?
     MR. COLTON:  It is a toggle; it is a yes or no toggle; you're either eligible or not eligible.  Being at 50 percent of LICO doesn't distinguish somebody from somebody who is at 124 percent of LICO.
     MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  But it is also true that many of these community organizations probably deal with people who are at 125 who may go, in fact, over the 150 line.  Isn't that a possibility?
     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that, and that's -- but if you contract with a community-based organization to deliver services.  Then they would deliver services according to their obligations.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say that if we adopt the LICO screen essentially and we're relying to some extent on community organizations, we're never actually going to have 100 percent certainty that we're getting exactly the right people?  There may be, for example, some people who are over the 150 percent threshold, and there, in fact, may be many other people well under it who for whatever reason are not interacting with these community organizations.  Is that fair to say?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Why not?  

     MR. COLTON:  Because if I were to contract with an organization, an organization to deliver my energy efficiency program or to deliver the outreach and intake for my energy efficiency programs, and I said that my energy efficiency program is to be delivered to people at or below 125 percent of LICO, you’d better not be bringing people into that program at 150 percent or 140 percent.  That's not what the contract calls for.  

     The contract calls for you to make an income determination.  It doesn't call for you to say, I'm going to serve everybody that comes through my doors and just assume that they are at or below 125 percent of LICO.  The contract, the service delivery contract which has been developed, is well developed.  That process would call for you to make a determination of whether the household is income-eligible 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  I certainly don't mean to suggest they would just be taking anyone in.  Wouldn't these community organizations be faced with some of the same problems the utility would have if they did it on their own, and that is that they don't necessarily have reliable information that states a particular customer's income? 

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Why?  

     MR. COLTON:  Because the contract would say you would contract with an organization to provide outreach and intake services.  The intake service could be -- it could involve a variety of income verification, but the intake service would involve an income verification process.  

     I'm not sure why you believe -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's helpful.  I guess I just didn't know, and it may just be my unfamiliarity with these programs.  So, for example, they may require you to show a tax return before you -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, I think it is getting a bit repetitive. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will move on.  

     Mr. Colton, I am looking at page 16 of your report.  I'm not even sure this question necessarily relates to it, but I can throw it out as a general question.  

     Should the 1.0 TRC threshold apply to low-income programs?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  So whatever the measure they're proposing, it has to be 1.1 or higher?  

     MR. COLTON:  It has to be over 1.0.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     MR. COLTON:  Simply because a program is a low-income program doesn't mean that it can't be not cost-effective.  There were a lot of negatives in there, but a low-income program has to be cost-effective, just like any other program.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I think I am almost done.  Just give me one moment.  Thank you, Mr. Colton.  Those are my questions.  

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

     MS. NOWINA:  We will take our break in a moment.  Before we do, I would like to get the order of cross-examination, if I could.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I believe first, and I will be about 45 minutes.  

     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I'm assuming friendly examiners go first and I certainly admit to being friendly to this position.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That is fair, Mr. Poch.  

     MR. POCH:  A number of the topics I wanted to examine on have been covered.  I think probably in the range of about 10 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You will go first.  

Anyone else in the same position as Mr. Poch?  All right.  

     MR. O’LEARY:  I will probably be five or ten minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  So Mr. O'Leary. 

     MR. SMITH:  I'm happy to go next, right after Mr. O'Leary. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, then Mr. Smith.  All right.  

Anyone else?  Mr. Rubin?  

     MR. RUBIN:  I may have about ten minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro?  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Technically not friendly, but I think I am benign.  I may have some.  If I am going last, it may be covered, but five or ten minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  That's everyone?  Thank you.  

We will now break until 15 minutes before 11 o'clock.  

     --- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 10:45 a.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.
     Mr. Poch.
     MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm just looking for LIEN's counsel to be here.
     MS. NOWINA:  Oh.
     MR. POCH:  Although my cross is friendly.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think that is probably necessary.
     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I believe Mr. O'Leary was going to present some exhibits.  Maybe this would be an appropriate time.
     MR. O'LEARY:  I'm happy to do, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that, Mr. O'Leary.
     MR. O'LEARY:  The two exhibits that have been circulated, one is a news release dated July 20th and the second is a table that has a simple heading, “Rate 1, Low-Income Customers.”
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.
     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the news release will be K8.3, and the second document will be K8.4.
     EXHIBIT NO. K8.3:  NEWS RELEASE
     EXHIBIT NO. K8.4:  TABLE ENTITLED RATE 1, LOW-INCOME 

CUSTOMERS
     MR. O'LEARY:  I might just note, Madam Chair, that we had speculated that Exhibit 8.4 might have gone in yesterday, and so you will see that it actually has “7” printed at the top.
     MS. NOWINA:  We will cross it out, Mr. O'Leary.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Poch.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH:
     MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Mr. Colton, am I correct in taking this discussion about 125 percent of LICO as your position as being yes, 125 percent of LICO as a hard number for purposes of budgeting for low-income programming but not as a hard number for purposes of eligibility for program participation?
     MR. COLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. POCH:  Okay.  And I don't want to descend into program design, but just in terms of how difficult that it is to -- it is to make sure programs are directed to people that are at least close to that or below in income, is it  -- is one method that you can use or has been used is to simply be in touch with social service agencies that provide income-tested programs and get them to agree to put in a bill-stuffer as it were, a cheque-stuffer saying, You may be eligible, contact Enbridge's call centre and they will direct you to the local community group?
     MR. COLTON:  If a person can demonstrate that they are a participant in a program that has eligibility that is akin to the eligibility proposed for the energy efficiency programs, then that's all they need to demonstrate.
     MR. POCH:  So the method I gave is one method of outreach that could be used?
     MR. COLTON:  It's a method of outreach, yes.
     MR. POCH:  In terms of the verification that people qualify, I mean we do have agreement amongst the parties about -- recognizing that -- let me leave that aside.  Let me just say an organization delivering low-income programs could simply say, Can you just show me an envelope from one of the social service agencies just to verify you qualify and that would be the kind of thing that would be required?
     MR. COLTON:  I think they would need more than an envelope.  But, Show me documentation that you qualify for this program.  And that establishes your qualification.
     MR. POCH:  You don't actually have to get into actually parsing tax returns; you can use other proxies.
     MR. COLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. POCH:  Okay, good.  Now, you have talked about proportionality, and my friend, Board Counsel, posited that if the Board doesn't accept -- it is possible the Board could not accept your suggestion, and indeed Mr. Neme's on issue 1.7, proportionality in terms of spending as between classes -- in the event it does not do so, do we have a potential concern about cross-subsidy, either interclass cross-subsidy, if we follow your rule that the 18 percent be applied to the revenue from low-income, as opposed to total utility revenue times the total DSM budget?  Does that raise concerns about cross-subsidy, I would think, in particular as between the middle and upper residential class members and the low-income class members?
     MR. COLTON:  First, there is never an issue of interclass subsidy, because by definition, expenditures on residential energy efficiency, whether it is low-income residential energy efficiency or non-low-income residential energy efficiency, will be allocated to the residential class.  So there is -- there should never be an issue of interclass subsidy.
     If one takes the intraclass question to its extreme, you could posit a situation -- I can't imagine this arising, but let's use it for the sake of analysis -- I could imagine a situation where the residential energy efficiency allocation has been reduced to zero and there is only a low-income residential energy efficiency program, based upon the proportionality methodology that we previously discussed.
     Even in that circumstance, I think that there wouldn't be an intraclass subsidy issue.  I think one would have to look at the delivery of energy efficiency services over time.  And if you look at the delivery of energy efficiency services over time - to date low-income households or low-income customers have been underserved - if there is a year or two years where they are overserved, nonetheless over time there would not be an intraclass subsidy issue.
     MR. POCH:  So in effect what you're saying is these customers, these low-income customers, have been cross-subsidizing the middle class and upper class for some years and this would simply be, over time, an evening out?
     MR. COLTON:  I believe that is one way you could look at it, yes.
     MR. POCH:  Okay.  You mentioned that studies have shown that even after snap-back, you can get 25 or 30 -- was it 25 to 30 or 25 to 35 percent savings from low-income programs?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  Which -- by the way, which was it, 30 or 35?
     MR. COLTON:  It depends on where you are.  Anywhere in the 25 to 30 -- 25 to 30 to 35 percent range would not be surprising.
     MR. POCH:  Is my understanding that would be for more comprehensive treatments than the kind of TAPS program Enbridge has been delivering?
     MR. COLTON:  Absolutely.
     MR. POCH:  Are you aware that the Ontario Power Authority is actually considering low-income programs of a more comprehensive nature, perhaps not as comprehensive as some of those programs, for low-income customers that are  -- that heat with electricity?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  And would this be an example of a program where the utility could -- utilities, gas utilities, could piggyback on that infrastructure and do a joint program?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  And if they did that, would that be -- first of all, would you agree that that is a program where there is significant savings potential?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  Second of all, that is a program that could take significant program dollars?  I think Ms. Squires noted that when I had this discussion earlier with her in the case.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  But would you agree that to the extent that the utilities can piggyback on the infrastructure of groups and entities that are delivering this for the electric side, it might not take a lot of utility time and management skill and research?
     MR. COLTON:  Absolutely.
     MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

Mr. O'Leary.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you Madam Chair.
     Mr. Colton, could I ask you, please, to turn up issue 13.1 on the partial settlement, which is tab 2 of Exhibit K1.1.  

Have you got that, sir?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Would you correct me as to your understanding that the partial settlement contemplates that the targeted spending for low-income would be a minimum of 1.3 million or 14 percent, that it is actually the greater of those two numbers which would be the targeted spending. 

     MR. COLTON:  Yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  You understand as well that -- and I know you're not giving any evidence on this, but in a market transformation budget, there is an agreement that no less than 14 percent of that would be spent on low-income?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And that these numbers are then going to be escalated annually by 5 and 10 percent respectively?

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Sir, would you agree with me that there is nothing in the partial settlement which would prevent a utility from designing programs which would be directed at those individuals that are above the 100 percent LICO and using monies from the other portion of their budget?  

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Which means, if I can state it differently, sir, that in fact the floor of 1.3 million or 14 percent -- if the utilities directed it only at LICO, 100 percent LICO customers, the utilities could still spend money on those that fall into your exaggerated LICO category, the additional 25 percent?  

     MR. COLTON:  The utilities could spend money out of their general residential budget on people, on households falling between 100 and 125 percent of LICO.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.  Can I ask you whether or not you feel -- and I can summarize what I understood your evidence in-chief was stating in part was a concern that there be some certainty as to the level of funding available for low-income programs.  Is that a fair characterization?  

     MR. COLTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And would it be fair to say that where you have a commitment by the utilities to spend no less than $1.44 million, that at least to that extent there is a degree of certainty afforded for these programs and those that are reliant upon them?  

     MR. COLTON:  There is a degree of certainty there, yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And I know you didn't give any evidence in respect of the last paragraph of issue 13.1, which deals with social housing multi-unit spending by the utilities and fuel switching.  But is it your position, sir, that this Board should not take any regard of the fact that the utilities may be spending monies in these other areas when it comes to their assessment of your recommendation that 18 percent be targeted at low-income?  

     MR. COLTON:  To the extent that the units are multi-metered, with landlords paying the bill, I would suggest to you that those program expenditures are not low-income expenditures, even if the tenants of those multi-metered buildings happened to be low-income.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  I think you said that several times at the technical conference, correct?  

     MR. COLTON:  If I didn't, I intended to.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Well, I can assure you you did.  

But really my question was:  Are you suggesting that it is inappropriate for the board to have any regard to the level of spending by a utility in respect of fuel-switching initiatives which might impact low-income customers for the purposes of assessing the appropriateness of your 18 percent target?  

     MR. COLTON:  I haven't addressed fuel switching and I would not take fuel switching into account in addressing the 18 percent target, no.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit 8.3, which was just -- do you have a copy of that, sir?

     MR. COLTON:  I do.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Could I ask you to go to the second paragraph.

The second line indicates that Enbridge Gas 

Distribution -- this is a news release of yesterday evening; that's why it is only being produced now, sir.  

But it indicates:

“Enbridge will donate $9 million to the winter warmth fund prior to the end of January 2007.  Initially launched by Enbridge Toronto-Hydro and the United Way in 2004, other Ontario natural gas and electric utilities have since joined the winter warmth fund.  The winter warmth fund provides eligible low-income customers of participating utilities with financial assistance for the payment of their natural gas and electricity bills.”

     My question to you -- 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Excuse me.  Madam Chair, I don't mean to interrupt, but this is the first time I have seen this document.  I have not been able to go through it with my witness, and I note that it could have been given to me this morning before the witness came on the stand.  I am concerned about putting it to him right now in this way.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I think you will find from my question, Madam Chair, that it doesn't require any consideration of what is in the document.  

     Perhaps – well, my first question was:  Are you familiar with the winter warmth fund?  

     MR. COLTON:  I am.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And -- 

     MR. COLTON:  I am aware of the winter warmth fund.  To say that I am familiar with it may overstate that.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  You are aware that it provides financial assistance to low-income customers of natural gas and electric utilities?  

     MR. COLTON:  I am. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Would it then fall into what you would consider targeted spending for low-income eligible customers?  

     MR. COLTON:  Targeted rate affordability assistance?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  No.  If the terms of one of the issues in this proceeding is the issue of targeted programs, would you consider this relevant for the purposes of considering whether there has been targeted spending by a utility on low-income individuals –- customers, I should say?  

     MR. COLTON:  I would say that this indicates that there are reparations being made in some way.  Actually, I'm totally unfamiliar with this case.  I have no idea of what this case is about.  

     Looking at the title, “Enbridge Gas Distribution Reaches Settlement in Garland Lake Payment Class Proceeding,” it seems to me that this could well be that there was a theory, a theory of a case that since low-income households are disproportionately payment-troubled, low-income households could have been disproportionately the payers of late payment penalties. 

And the way to provide reparations for the disproportionate payment of penalties is to donate the $9 million to winter warmth funds.  And that is simply a way of providing reparations through what is called a cy pres agreement, and that is what this looks like.  It's a cy pres agreement.  

     So rather than providing individual tiny amounts of refunds, the dollars are provided in a lump sum to an organization that provides the same basic services.  And it wouldn't be targeted spending at all.  It would be providing cy pres reparations.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, I think from his response, it is clear that the witness is not familiar with the topic of the -- 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I understand that.  I was too -- not, actually, Madam Chair, going to take him into the topic.  

My question was simply this:  Do you consider the fact this proposed donation of $9 million in 2007 as having any relevance for the purposes of your proposal of 18 percent?   

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Colton, in response to some questions by Mr. Millar - and I may have not put your wording down precisely as you said it - but you were asked, I believe it was, “In the alternative to your rule of proportionality, what would you propose?”  And I thought I understood you as saying that you would ask that this Board adopt a policy which would involve weatherizing all residential housing within Ontario within a certain period of time.  Are my notes correct?  

     MR. COLTON:  Mr. Millar is staff?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Mr. Millar is the Board counsel.  

     MR. COLTON:  Oh, he asked me to set aside all -- I thought he asked me to set aside all notions of proportionality and what an alternative decision will be.  And I suggested that if one were to set aside all notions of proportionality, that one reasonable decision rule might be to simply say that all eligible low-income customers would receive energy efficiency services within a reasonable planning horizon.

     MR. O'LEARY:  But I do recall the word “weatherize.”  Can you help us a bit to understand what the word “weatherize” means. 

     MR. COLTON:  Weatherization, in my mind, is a comprehensive set of energy efficiency measures.  It would include shuttle services, air sealing, building shell services. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  

     MR. COLTON:  Air sealing, since it is a gas DSM program, a gas appliance replacement.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Windows?  

     MR. COLTON:  Windows, to the extent that they are cost-effective.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  You would agree with me that when you are considering the actual absolute dollars to provide these -- or undertake these upgrades to various homes, we're talking about a significant sum of money per home?     

MR. COLTON:  Absolutely.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And it is your position that this Board should be setting a policy which -- for the province which would involve updating significant -- spending significant sums of money on low-income homes? 
     MR. COLTON:  It is my position that the low-income budget should be set on the basis of a principle of proportionality.  I was asked to posit an alternative decision rule should that principle not be adopted.
     MR. O'LEARY:  And I am asking about that alternative.  My question really is:  Is it your view that it's the role of this board to be setting social policy for the province of Ontario?
     MR. COLTON:  I don't believe that anything that we have talked about to this point in time involves social policy when you are addressing cost-effective investments in energy efficiency measures.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Isn't a preferred course of action, sir, for the legislature to find the funds and to implement the appropriate legislation and regulation for this sort activity?
     MR. COLTON:  No.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Not through an investor-owned utility?
     MR. COLTON:  No.
     MR. O'LEARY:  You say it is better that the Board bring in policies to that effect as an alternative to your original proposal, versus the legislature?
     MR. COLTON:  The appropriate forum for deciding how to minimize the revenue requirement that is generated by a public utility and passed through to rates, in rates to customers is this Board, and cost-effective energy efficiency investments is the way to minimize or to reduce that pot of revenue requirement dollars.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Do you have an approximate estimate of the cost per low-income household to undertake this weatherization?
     MR. COLTON:  I believe that a comprehensive weatherization would be in the $2000 to $2500 per household range, since I proposed that simply in response to a staff question this morning.  I haven't adopted or analyzed a budget.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  But I thought that either at the Technical Conference or at the -- or in your prefiled evidence, you indicated that low-income owner-occupied homes tended to be perhaps not as well maintained as those of upper incomes; therefore, they might require even additional weatherization.  Is that fair to say?
     MR. COLTON:  No.  I believe that what I said is that low-income homes tend to be not as well maintained as non-low-income homes.  And one of the partnerships that a utility could and should rationally pursue is a partnership with affordable housing programs.
     Through a partnership with affordable housing programs, the affordable housing program would pay for the non-energy savings repairs and allow the utility to devote its money to the energy efficiency measures.
     The additional benefit of a housing utility partnership is that the income and intake expenditures would be borne by the housing program, rather than the utility program.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I understand how you believe it would theoretically work.  My question was a very simple one, is that, as a general matter, if you look at the housing stock for low-income individuals, it is not as well maintained as it is for upper income individuals, and that would mean and include it hasn't kept pace with appropriate upgrades from an energy efficiency perspective; fair?
     MR. COLTON:  To an extent, I would agree with that.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Could I now ask you, sir, to turn to Exhibit 8.2, which is the table that you put together and Ms. Abouchar reviewed with you this morning.
     If we could look at the table itself.  And just correct me if I understand what you said as being correct.
     Line 1, which is -- we're looking at the top table.  On the left-hand side, you have numbers which were taken from the Enbridge Exhibit K6.3; is that correct?  The left-hand column?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  The right-hand column, I'm not sure if your exhibit is also coloured.
     MS. NOWINA:  It is.
     MR. O'LEARY:  The colourful column is the column that you created with your changes; right?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And so if you look at line number 1, your figure of 949,938, I understood you to say that that was a number that you increased over the figure given by the Enbridge witness Ms. Squires to reflect your view that LICO should be inflated to 125 percent; is that fair to say?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So in effect, you made a policy decision that you're recommending that there be an increase to 125 percent, and you have included it in your table, your figures.
     MR. COLTON:  My policy recommendation is that eligibility be set at 125 percent, yes, and my figures reflect that recommendation.

     MR. O'LEARY:  You would agree there is some debate over whether or not a LICO figure at 100 percent understates or perhaps overstates poverty?
     MR. COLTON:  I have yet to see a document dealing with low-income energy efficiency that recommends an eligibility figure at 100 percent.
     MR. O'LEARY:  That wasn't my question, sir.  Is there a debate over what -- whether a LICO number at 100 percent understates the poverty line?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.
     So it is a policy issue as to whether or not you go above the 100 percent figure; fair enough?
     MR. COLTON:  Clearly, sure, absolutely.
     MR. O'LEARY:  If we go down to line 4, which you have increased the percentage figure used in the Enbridge exhibit from 55 percent to 58 percent.  And could I turn you to the second page of that exhibit, K8.2, which is your explanation for what you have done.  

If I could take you to the third line, where you state:
     
“However, EGD serves Toronto, which has a 

proportionately high amount of multi-family, multi-storey rental dwellings.” 

Do you see that, sir?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Am I correct in understanding that what that means is that Toronto has a higher-than-average number of people that live in multi-storey rental dwellings?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Would it be fair to say that a substantial, if not the vast majority of those rental dwellings would be both metered for gas purposes?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And indeed while we're on that note –- well, sorry, let's just understand.
     MR. COLTON:  Actually, to the extent that they are gas --
     MR. O'LEARY:  If they're on gas service at all.

MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  And would you agree that when a building is bulk metered for gas purposes, it means that none of the tenants in that building are customers of the utility?
     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.
     MR. O'LEARY:  So they are not the persons -- they are not the customers of the utility which you are directing your proposed low-income programs at.
     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.  So wouldn't it be fair to say that, in fact, the numbers, rather than being increased, should actually be decreased to reflect the fact that in Toronto the average, in respect of the number of households which do not pay their own utilities, should actually be higher than what's been included in the table that was presented to you?
     MR. COLTON:  No.
     MR. O'LEARY:  No.  Why not?
     MR. COLTON:  I don't understand why it would be higher.  The numbers that you've generated generate a -- use a larger household size, which then generates a smaller number of households.
     You then exclude the households that don't pay for their energy service directly.
     So you're making the adjustment that you suggest in your subsequent exhibit.  It doesn't follow, in my mind, that you would adjust the number -- total number of households downwards.
     And, in fact, the problem that you have is that you haven't adjusted the number of households up to reflect the increased number of households, and yet you have still excluded all of those additional households that don't pay for their energy service, which means that the remainder that you end up with is too low.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Let me come back to the households in a 

minute, based upon what your assumption is here.  

     My question simply -- I will come at it a different way:  Have you anywhere in your numbers adjusted the table to reflect what you've stated at Exhibit 8.2, that Toronto has a proportionately higher amount of multi-family rental dwellings, which means that relative to the Stats Canada average, there are fewer customers of natural gas utilities?  You haven't made any adjustments to reflect that, have you, sir?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Can you show me where?  

     MR. COLTON:  Sure.  Down in line 8, the 71 percent figure.  I do exactly what the company did - which isn't surprising, since I was working off of your proposed exhibit - to adjust out the people who don't pay for their energy bills.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, by your calculation, you reduced the number of customers that are on bulk metered service.  

You went from 75 to 71, which implies that in your view, at least in the Enbridge franchise territory, in fact there are more people that pay their own utility bills than on average.  So you're doing the opposite of what I'm suggesting to you and the opposite to what I submit to you your own statement says in paragraph 2.  

     MR. COLTON:  And I reduced it to reflect the fact that that there is a move away from master meters and to individual metres today. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I thought you might raise that.  You're talking about Bill 109, are you not, sir? 

     MR. COLTON:  I don't remember the bill.  But whether there is public policy -- whether there is legislation or not, there's certainly a move, within the master metered industry and within the landlord community, to move to individual metres.  

     Whether there is legislation or not doesn't detract from the fact that there is a move toward individual metres.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, do you know what the Technical Standards Authority requires in respect of the installation of a natural gas hot water tank or a natural gas stove?  

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Do you know what the requirements are for that?

     MR. COLTON:  No.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Are you aware of a mad dash by landlords in Enbridge's or anybody's franchise territory to individually meter high-rise units for natural gas?  

     MR. COLTON:  High-rise units?  No.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  No.  So what you're talking about is electricity metering or submetering of individual units; is that fair to say?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, there is a move to submeter electricity and water, yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  But you cannot draw an analogy to that for the purposes of natural gas.  There is no analogy, is there?  

     MR. COLTON:  Actually, I agree with that.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you. 

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Then it would be inappropriate to lower your number from 75 percent to 71 percent on that analogy?  

     MR. COLTON:  Unless there is a move in the natural gas submetering, yes.  I agree.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Okay. 

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with you. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We agree one of the numbers at least is different.  All right.  

     Without belabouring the point, at line 9 of your figure, that's where you have included your 75 percent; fair enough?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, the fact that that 75 percent and your number was 75 below is coincidental.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  It is actually.  I believe it was 71 percent.  Just so we don't confuse the record here, line 8 of the table below is where you have -- I included your 71 percent to lower it down.  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  The 75 percent, as I understand from your evidence -- you're saying that 61 percent, which was the figure that Ms. Squires used, is inappropriate, and you're suggesting that the updated average should be 64 percent?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And do you have any specific evidence you're relying upon to indicate that that number should be any higher than 64 percent?  

     MR. COLTON:  I did look at some StatsCanada figures on the penetration of heating systems and the penetration of fuels. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And is that something that you have produced in your prefiled or ...

     MR. COLTON:  No.  The company simply provided this exhibit on Wednesday, so...

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Moving on, then, to the bottom table.  I will ask you several questions.  

     The presentation of your numbers in the right-hand column, is that your attempt to adjust the company's Exhibit 6.3 to reflect the changes that you believe are appropriate?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So that the numbers that -- 

     MR. COLTON:  Actually, let me back up for a minute, because I want to make the point again that I'm not proposing these numbers as the absolute correct numbers.  And perhaps I'm simply restating what I said earlier, but I'm not suggesting that these are the appropriate numbers.  

     I'm suggesting that these indicate that small changes in the numbers that the company has proposed make tremendous differences in the bottom line budget.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, sir, that shouldn't be surprising.  You have increased the number of households by 25 percent.  That alone is going to make a significant change; right?  

     MR. COLTON:  Absolutely.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  All I'm simply trying to get at - and this is a table you prepared - if you look at that column and we see as line 12, after making all of the adjustments that you say are appropriate, if we apply your theory of proportionality, which the utilities don't accept, that we stand by issue 1.7; but applying your theory of proportionality, the best number we come up with 

is 15 percent.  Isn't that fair to say, sir? 

     MR. COLTON:  That's what these numbers indicate, yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  That is at 125 percent of LICO; right?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  If I could then turn you, sir, to Exhibit 8.4.  


I do not propose to walk you through this, because you've obviously clearly had an opportunity to look at it, and it is also set out in Exhibit 8.2.  But I wanted to take you to line 8.  

     There it is described as the percentage of tenants with utilities embedded in rents.  So these are the high-rises where the tenants -- the natural gas buildings where there is bulk metered; right? 

     MR. COLTON:  Yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  The number included there is 75 percent.  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  You will see the footnote references a document entitled "Community Social Planning Council of Toronto:  Protecting Low-Income People from Higher Electricity Prices,” a submission by Community Social Planning Council of Toronto, the Honourable Dwight Duncan, Minister of Energy, Toronto, November 2002.   

     And I would hope that your counsel shared with you that portion of the document which we forwarded to her?  

     MR. COLTON:  I have seen both pages of this document.  Since it was only provided Wednesday night of this week, I obviously have not had an opportunity to certainly look up the source documents that they cite. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Did you note the fact that this group -- which obviously is an advocate for the low-income in Ontario, is it not?  

     MR. COLTON:  I'm not familiar with the Community Social Planning Council of Toronto.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Would you agree with me that that document, in fact, indicated that the percentage of tenants with utilities embedded in rent is actually somewhere between 75 and 80 percent?   Is that not correct, sir?  

     MR. COLTON:  I would have no idea.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I thought you said you did see the portions of the document which were sent to you.

     MR. COLTON:  No.  I saw the two pages of what have been marked Exhibit K8.4, but I have not seen the underlying source documents. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Would you please undertake, sir, to ask your counsel for a copy of that and to confirm, by undertaking, that in fact that source document indicates that the percentage of tenants with utilities -- 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Madam Chair, Madam Chair, I asked my friend if he had intended on putting this document, this -- I believe it is a press release he is discussing -- into evidence, and he declined.  

     If he now wants to put it to the witness and get the witness's opinion about the value of the document, I invite him to do so, but he's clearly asking questions that the witness can't answer.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, it is most unfair.  I forwarded to my friend a copy of Exhibit 8.4 together with applicable pages from that source document.  I indicated that I might refer to both in my e-mail, and this is absolutely improper for me asking this witness to confirm the contents of a source document.  If he has a view that is different than that, he can state it.
     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you put those pages in as an exhibit, Mr. O'Leary, and we can --
     MR. O'LEARY:  I would be happy to, Madam Chair.  We don't have copies presently, but we can have them in a matter of moments.  

But could I have that undertaking, Mr. Colton?
     MR. COLTON:  The ...     

MR. O'LEARY:  We will be filing it.
     MS. NOWINA:  What was the undertaking again, Mr. O'Leary?
     MR. O'LEARY:  The request was simply to have him review and confirm that the source document, in fact, states that the percentage of tenants with utilities embedded in rent is actually between 75 and 80 percent.  In other words, it is stating higher than that that we've used, the conservative number which we've used in Exhibit 8.4.
     MS. NOWINA:  If you can get us copies at lunchtime and enter it as an exhibit, the witness can answer the question after lunch, Ms. Abouchar?  It seems like a pretty mechanical answer.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Provided the witness has the opportunity to look at the value and the value of the document and make a judgment about those numbers.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, were you asking for a judgment about the numbers, or whether the document says 75 to 85 percent?
     MR. O'LEARY:  If Mr. Colton wants to venture an opinion and there is a basis for it, then I would certainly welcome that.  But that is the source of that.  We are asking him to either accept as being reasonable or not.
     My next question would be - and you can perhaps respond to that now - but is it your view that a figure of 75 to 80 percent in the Enbridge franchise territory, being the number of tenants that do not pay their utilities, is incorrect?
     MR. COLTON:  I believe 75 percent is a commonly accepted number.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.
     MS. NOWINA:  We will give the document an exhibit number now, Mr. O'Leary, and you can get copies for us as soon as possible.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Madam Chair.
     MR. MILLAR:  K8.5.
     EXHIBIT NO. K8.5:  document entitled "Community 

Social Planning Council of Toronto:  Protecting Low-

Income People from Higher Electricity Prices”

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Colton, just a couple of other questions about Exhibit 8.4.
     MR. COLTON:  Sorry.  The undertaking -- I was writing here.  The undertaking is to look at the source document?
     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.
     MR. COLTON:  Okay.
     MS. NOWINA:  We will take the undertaking as well, so if we can have an undertaking number.
     MR. MILLAR:  J81. 
     UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  TO LOOK AT SOURCE DOCUMENT AND 

PROVIDE OPINION
     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Colton, I appreciate you don't agree with all of these numbers, but from our debate over the last few moments, you would at least agree that there is room for movement one way or another?  Can we agree on that in terms some of the estimates here?
     MR. COLTON:  There is room for movement on that 75 percent versus 71 percent, yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I thought we agreed at least one of your numbers was incorrect, but let's leave that.
     Let's assuming hypothetically the Board accepts the figures that are set out in Exhibit 8.4.  Would you do that for purposes of our discussion?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And would you agree, at least mathematically, if we use your proportionality rule, that in fact the partial settlement generates a number of 1.44 million, which is a floor, which in fact is a sizeable amount greater than what your proportionality rule would generate if you accept the math and the underlying statistics at 100 percent LICO?
     MR. COLTON:  I haven't done the math at 100 percent LICO.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I thought you had done the math, but perhaps we could ask you to undertake to confirm that the -- that if the Board accepts the assumptions that are used for the basis of Exhibit 8.4, which are primarily from Exhibit 6.3, do you agree with the math in Exhibit 8.4?
     MR. COLTON:  Oh, your question is:  If I accept all of your assumptions arithmetically, do the application of your numbers yield the number at the bottom of your exhibit?  I would accept that.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  And indeed, if we were to increase the amount at line 14 of 1.2 million, which is the mathematical derivation using your proportionality rule, that would increase it to 1.5 million to reflect your LICO 125 percent; is that fair?
     MR. COLTON:  Would you please repeat that question?
     MR. O'LEARY:  It is straight math.  I'm simply asking whether or not at line 14, if you increased 1.2 million by 25 percent, you would mathematically arrive at 1.5 million?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  And that is roughly equivalent to the floor which is set out in the partial settlement here, is it not?
     MR. COLTON:  The partial settlement is 1.3 million.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Plus 140,000 for market transformation, so it is 1.44.
     MR. COLTON:  If you add in the market transformation, yes, 1.44.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Just a couple of other questions, sir.
     And this may have been answered, but I may not have fully understood your answers.  If we turn to issue 13.2 - if I could ask you to do that - in Exhibit K1.1, tab 2 of the partial settlement.
     Do you have that, sir?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. O'LEARY:  The first line reads:  

“Each of the utilities is at liberty to develop appropriate eligibility criteria for low-income residential programs.”  

Stopping there, it was my understanding from your evidence at the Technical Conference that it is your view that the utilities -- I believe I understood you saying the same thing today, but just to be certain that I'm correct  -- that you see it as the role of the utilities to set eligibility criteria?
     MR. COLTON:  For the soft -- what Staff referred to as the “soft money.”
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Are you proposing a rule that you would ask this Board to adopt for the purposes of issue 13.2?
     MR. COLTON:  The rule that I have recommended for income eligibility is 125 percent of LICO.
     MR. O'LEARY:  I understand that.  But in terms of the other half of 13.2, if I could put it this way, is how should eligibility criteria be determined?  You say it is 125 percent.  Whether that is what the Board accepts or if it is 100 percent or some other number, is it the utilities that would develop the eligibility criteria?  Or is it some other entity?
     MR. COLTON:  The Board would establish 125 -- I feel like we're talking past each other.
     MR. O'LEARY:  It could be.
     MR. COLTON:  The Board would establish 125 percent of LICO as the eligibility criteria.
     The utility would then determine how it believes is the most effective and efficient way to do the outreach and intake to ascertain whether a particular household meets that income eligibility criteria.
     And the utility ...     

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand, sir.  I think we're in agreement.  You're saying the utility would have the flexibility to develop the methodology to determine those that meet the eligibility criteria?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes, during the intake process.  The income verification process, I believe, is what we're talking about.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.
     MR. COLTON:  The utility would have the discretion to determine what income verification process is most effective and most efficient, but the Board would set the number.
     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Colton, just a couple of further questions.  Do you accept, sir, that low-income programs -- it has been the evidence so far in this proceeding by others -- but do you accept that low-income programs tend to, on average, generate a lower TRC value?
     MR. COLTON:  Than?
     MR. O'LEARY:  Than average.
     MR. COLTON:  Than average residential?
     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.
     MR. COLTON:  I actually don't deal with average residential programs.  The programs that I have worked with with low-income generate TRCs of greater than 1.0, and that's where I quit.
     MR. O'LEARY:  I understand you’re adopting the cost-effectiveness threshold of 1.0.  But as a proposition, would it appear to you as being sound if someone was to say it's harder to generate a TRC cost benefit level of greater than 1.0 for low-income programs than for other standard residential programs?
     MR. COLTON:  No.
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So you're accepting that, that that makes sense?
     MR. COLTON:  No.
     MR. O'LEARY:  No, you don't accept that?  

     MR. COLTON:  I don't accept that.

     MR. O'LEARY:  You can generate -- through a program targeted at low-income parties, that it is no more difficult to generate the same level of TRCs than it is for other standard residential programs?  

     MR. COLTON:  It's no more difficult to generate a TRC of 1.0 or more than it is for other residentials.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  So all of the witnesses who said different are wrong?  

     MR. COLTON:  I'm not familiar with what the other witnesses have said, and I am not familiar with what they have taken into account in the TRC.  But I do know that most evaluators who work with residential programs do not work with the non-energy benefits generated by low-income programs.  So they are not only not familiar with those benefits, but they aren't familiar with the methodologies for taking those benefits into account.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, isn't it true that in certain jurisdictions the targeted spending on low-income has actually been moved out of the demand side management because of the very reason that it is difficult to generate the same levels of TRCs?  

     MR. COLTON:  I'm not familiar with those jurisdictions.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Madam Chair, those are my questions.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

Mr. Smith.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Colton, I have just a couple of questions for you.  

     Mr. Colton, I take it you will agree that all customers should be provided with equitable access to DSM programs?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it you would also agree, based on what you indicated to Ms. Abouchar in your examination-in-chief, that it is important for the utility to optimize its cost-effective DSM opportunities?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And, Mr. Colton, you indicated in your examination-in-chief that in respect of issue 1.7 it could be possible for residential spending to dip to zero.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  I take it you're aware, Mr. Colton, that in the least seven or eight years of experience that Union has in delivering DSM programs, it has never done that before.  

     MR. COLTON:  I absolutely agree with that.  

     MR. SMITH:  In fact, you're aware that spending has never dipped below 30 percent on the residential programs; correct?  

     MR. COLTON:  I would accept that, yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it you're equally aware that it has been as high as 66 percent?  

     MR. COLTON:  I would accept that, yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And you also heard the evidence that the reason for the dip between 2003 and 2004 was as a result of the change in the water meter setback?  

     MR. COLTON:  I'm not -- I'm not aware one way or another. 

     MR. SMITH:  You don't have any information one way or another on that. 

     MR. COLTON:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  I take it you're aware that in 2006 Union is proposing to spend more money on its residential programs than it has ever spent before?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Mr. Colton.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Mr. Rubin.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RUBIN:  

     MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Mr. Colton, I would like to take you back to Exhibit K8.2, and I would like to focus on a different number than the one that Mr. O'Leary focussed on, and that number is your row 4 of your bottom table.  I believe it may be identical to row 6 in your top table.  And that is your change from 35 percent homeowners to 41 percent homeowners.  

     You described the change in your paragraph 2 on page 1.  And as I understand it, you say that the change is based in part on what you call a “straight line increase in home ownership, with rising income by quintile.”  

Am I right so far?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  As I understand it, you have StatsCanada data showing the bottom quintile by income has a home ownership rate of 27 percent -- I'm sorry, I'm in the third paragraph on page 1, 27 percent.  

The next quintile up, second from the bottom, has 54 percent.  Are you with me so far?  

     MR. COLTON:  I am. 

     MR. RUBIN:  And I'm with you.  Good.  

     Now, can you tell me:  If we used those two numbers and we applied straight-line extrapolation to derive the top three quintiles, would you agree with me we would come up with a nonsensical answer; that we would come up with 27 percent at the bottom, 54 percent for the second, and continuing to add 27 percent to each, we would get 81 percent, 108 percent and 135 percent for the quintiles?  

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.  

     MR. RUBIN:  And does that not establish that at least the curve as a whole, running through all five quintiles, is obviously not a straight line?  

     MR. COLTON:  I agree.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Now, my question is:  If straight-line extrapolation produces nonsense, is it not reasonable to assume that straight-line interpolation also produces nonsense?  

     MR. COLTON:  I'm not sure what you're asking there.  

     MR. RUBIN:  You have taken a curve which obviously    is not a straight line and you have two points on that curve and you have derived an intermediate point by taking out a ruler and assuming that the line between those two points is a straight line.  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Is that not likely to be wrong, because we have just established that the curve is not a straight line?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, the curve -- actually, my testimony earlier was that the curve was not a straight line between quintiles.  

     I indicated that the home ownership was low and then once you hit a certain level of income, the home ownership rate steeply increases.  As income goes up, you're right; the home ownership rate will, once again, level off.  

     So you wouldn't simply increase it from 27 to 54 to 81, because it's not only nonsensical but it is contrary to fact.  It is not the way it works.  

But to get from the 27 to the 54, I do not think that, in the absence of the microdata that underlies the StatsCanada summary tables, it's unreasonable to use a straight line to get from 27 to 54.  

     Clearly the best methodology would be -- the best procedure would have been to have gotten the microdata.  And if the company would have provided this information at the technical session or two weeks ago, I might have been able to do that.  But the company provided this information on Wednesday of this week, so I couldn't do that.  

In the absence of that, I believe that I used a reasonable methodology.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Would you agree with me that looking at the numbers for the five quintiles, it would appear to be that we have kind of a S-curve, perhaps a logistics function?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Would you agree with me that in the range in which you have done your interpolation, a logistic curve or an S-curve would be concave upward?  

     MR. COLTON:  From the 27 to the 54?  

     MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  

     MR. COLTON:  I wouldn't know why you would expect that within that range.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Is it not true that S-curves or logistic functions generally begin at their lower levels as concave upwards and finish at their highest levels concave downwards?

     MR. COLTON:  I don't know that.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Isn't that how we draw a “S”?  I am puzzled by your answer.  I'm sorry if -- 

     Can we go back to basics.  Does an “S” not change inflection from concave in one direction to concave in the other?


MR. COLTON:  Yes.  


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  And a logistic curve does the same? 

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBIN:  So looking at a simple S-curve, are we not dealing with something that starts as a cup or a scoop and ends as a cap, something that is concave downwards?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Is it fair to say that the first quintile is at the left part and that the second quintile is generally also at the left part of that curve?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes, yes.  

     MR. RUBIN:  Let me repeat my earlier question, then:  Is it not reasonable to believe that in that range we are dealing with a curve that is concave upwards?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  
     MR. RUBIN:  Is it not also true that when we take out a ruler and do a straight-line interpolation between two points on a curve which is concave upwards, that we overestimate the intermediate point?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  Yes.
     MR. RUBIN:  Is it not reasonable to believe, then, that your 41 percent, which I understand to be based on such a linear interpolation, is overstating the intermediate point?
     MR. COLTON:  Maybe to some degree, yes.  It is the best available.
     MR. RUBIN:  Is it beyond your capability to take the five data points that you have for the five quintiles and derive a logistic function from them?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, I find myself exceeding my legal background here.  I am wondering if there would be a way, at some point between now and the end of argument, to get a reasonable curve into evidence or to argue on the basis of such a curve, based on known data points.  

I'm wondering if I'm at the end of my road here, and I'm open for suggestions, if there are any.
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Madam Chair, this witness is not -- the purpose of his testimony and the point that he has made is not that the alternative numbers that he is putting forward are the correct numbers.  He said he just got these last -– a night or two ago.  He doesn't have all of the data.
     It illustrates his point that you change one number a little bit or another number a little bit, and you get very different numbers, and that it is very difficult to come up with the absolute number.
     And in light of that, I don't think that exploring nuances in the numbers is all that helpful to the Board.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Abouchar.  

Mr. Rubin, I take Ms. Abouchar's point, these numbers are not being used to calculate an absolute number that the Board is supposed to put in a decision.
     So the correctness of them precisely is, I don't think, an issue.  It was to illustrate the point of the variability.
     The other concern I would have is that to take the five numbers that you think are available to the witness and for him to develop the graph from that and draw mathematical conclusions, I'm not totally comfortable with.
     Now, if we had the exact data points and you wanted to make some point based on that and they were easily available, I suppose that might make some sense.
     I don't know if anybody has that data set.  I certainly don't think that the witness has the data set
     MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is helpful.  Let me just conclude this line with a couple of higher level questions.
     Let me try one.  Would it shock you if the actual data showed that 35 percent was closer to the truth than 41 percent, given what we've said about the interpolation of a curve?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. RUBIN:  It would shock you?  Thank you.  And -- that will teach me to ask that question.
  And also, can you tell me if hypothetically, let's say, 35 percent turned out to be right, that would have a -- am I correct in assuming that would have a significant lowering effect on the 15 percent in your line 12?
     MR. COLTON:  It would reduce -- clearly if you reduce the 41 to 35, it would have an impact.  Whether that impact is significant is -- I would have to see the result.  Even when I saw the result, the term "significant" has value judgments in it.  The result would be what it would be.  And it would be up to others to determine whether it was significant or not.
     MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Let me see if I have anything else.
     Do I understand that you have a way of -- that you have developed some methodology or you're aware of some methodology of incorporating the non-gas savings benefits of low-income DSM into a TRC test?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. RUBIN:  And is it your understanding that those benefits are now being incorporated by either of the gas utilities in Ontario?
     MR. COLTON:  My understanding is that they are not.
     MR. RUBIN:  And would you count those benefits as significant in the TRC?  Are they -- can you give us any handle on how large they loom?
     MR. COLTON:  I actually provided in an undertaking after or arising out of the technical session with a paper which indicates the way to take those non-energy benefits into account.  And it is generally done through a multiplier of the TRC, but ...     

MR. RUBIN:  A multiplier of TRC, okay.
     So in other words, if it is a multiplier rather than an adder, am I correct in saying that it would not turn a TRC below 1 into a TRC above 1?
     MR. COLTON:  No.  It could very easily turn a TRC of below 1 into a TRC --
     MR. RUBIN:  Yes, okay, I understand now.
     MR. COLTON:  But it is undertaking JT3.17 was the methodology.
     MR. RUBIN:  And if the methodology were to incorporate those adders, if I can call them that, or multiplier - those additions - I take it that would then strengthen your position there is no reason to go below a TRC of 1 in low-income DSM programs?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. RUBIN:  And can I also just for the record clarify that one of the main differences that you propose for low-income programs, which is that the gas utilities should bear virtually 100 persons of the costs, rather than the customer bearing part of the costs, that that has no effect on TRC?  Is that correct?
     MR. COLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. RUBIN:  And it is then reasonable, is it not, to say that low TRC programs for low-income people are effectively low-benefit programs?
     MR. COLTON:  Can you restate that question?
     MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  If I were to spend $100 on weatherizing a low-income person's house and spend $100 on weatherizing a high-income person's house and I produced a TRC of 4 in the high-income person's house but produced a TRC of 1.001 in the low-income person's house, is it not likely that what's happened is I've just saved less gas and done less good in the low-income person's house with the low TRC than I have in the high-income person's house with the high TRC?
     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.
     MR. RUBIN:  Therefore, it is not a great service, all other things equal, to spend money, the same amount of money deriving low TRC for low-income people?  They would be much better off if we could get higher TRC.
     MR. COLTON:  Given everything that you've posited, yes.
     MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.  

Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.  

Mr. Buonaguro.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Buonaguro:
     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I've actually been reduced to one mathematical question.  My math isn't half as complicated as interpolating quintile curves.  

Could you please, Mr. Colton, go to K8.2.  It is just actually a matter of clarification of how the table presents itself.  

On my copy, it is the second page.  Exhibit K7.xx is how it is labelled.  It is the second table.  I am looking at line 8, where it says 75 percent renters with energy in rent.  8, highlighted in yellow, it says 71 percent.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, below that it says, row 7 times row 8, which gives you approximately 69,000?
     If I can suggest, I think the 69,000 is what you were trying to get, but actually the calculation that you're doing is row 7 --
     MR. COLTON:  -- times one minus --
     MR. BUONAGURO:  It is actually row 7 times, in your case, 29 percent.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. BUONAGURO:  And the correction -- or the line of questioning that Mr. O'Leary took you through would -- if accepted, would raise that to or would be row 7 times 25 percent, I think.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.
     MR. COLTON:  You're right.
     MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  But other than that, the actual number there is what you were intending to put into the table, the 69,000?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  I believe that what you just pointed out is that the row 7 times row 8 is what's in error, not the number.
     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  

Ms. Abouchar.  

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. ABOUCHAR:

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, if I could just take you again to this press release. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Abouchar, is your mike on?

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Mr. Colton, if you could take a look at the press release my friend pointed you to.  Would you agree that dollars to help people pay their bills is not DSM spending?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And taking you to the TEA report, Exhibit K8.1, there is a series of tables halfway through the report beginning at section 3 – unfortunately, the document isn't page numbered, but if you could turn to the page that has two tables on it, figure 11 and figure 12.  

     MR. COLTON:  I'm there.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Did these tables suggest that the numbers of metered customers or multi-res customers are less than 75 percent?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Okay.   Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Abouchar.  

     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Quesnelle.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Colton, Ms. Abouchar took you through her examination in-chief.  She mentioned three items on the partial settlement, 1.3, 1.7, and item 13.  

     Just under 1.3, which is in relation to the budget - and I note that you did qualify your response to her to give comment on that - that you didn't have any comments or position on the total amount of budget.  But you did, in discussing the budget, suggest -- and I am paraphrasing here -- and I wonder if you could expand on the notion that there should be a comprehensive package in delivering - I will let you find your notes - energy efficiency.  Otherwise, there is the potential to create lost opportunities.  

     I took that to mean go in and do it right or you could be doing something detrimental to the program.  I wonder if you could expand on that.  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  What we found with energy efficiency programs that I've worked with is that once you treat a low-income household with energy efficiency, if you don't do it comprehensively, then the measures that you didn't install the first time around won't be done.  

And there are two reasons for that.  One is that it's more difficult to go back and redo a home, more difficult politically, if you will -- or “politically” isn't the right word, but from a program design priority-setting perspective, to go back and treat a home that you've already done -- and maybe these reasons flow into each other.  

And secondly is that given everybody who has received nothing, that you will more likely treat those folks who have received nothing, rather than going back and redoing somebody that has received less than comprehensive treatment.  

     So you have eliminated the opportunity, lost the opportunity to deliver the comprehensive services if you treat a housing unit but don't do it comprehensively when you're there.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I think you may have alluded to it -- I think it was a question from Mr. O'Leary on what's meant to have the envelope of the house and what have you.  Is that what you're referring to when you speak of comprehensive, that it is more than a showerhead or …    


MR. COLTON:  Yes.  Yes.  You go in, and the first thing you do, because it tends to be very cost-effective and generates a lot of savings, is you put a blower door on the home and you do the air sealing.  Then you look at the heating and ventilation system.  Then you look at the other gas appliances.  You look at hot water.  

     That is what I mean when I say “comprehensive treatment.“ 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on a slightly different line, then.  When you speak to the principle of proportionality, is it correct for me to assume that if the gas utility has designed low-income programs and they target the proportional amount of money, that there is nothing are -- or could you comment on what would be stopping someone in the low-income bracket, whether we choose the 100 percent LICO or 125, from taking advantage of the programs that are designed for the rest of the socio-economic residential bracket?  What specifically -- I know you have talked about barriers, but what is stopping them from taking advantage of those other programs?  

     MR. COLTON:  Well, once you get into a low-income housing unit, you should comprehensively treat that housing unit through the low-income program.  So you should exhaust the cost-effective investment in energy efficiency once you're in the home.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be proactive targeted programs that aren't on kind of a voluntary basis, that typically would be offered out through outreach and suggesting, Here are some things; if you want to take advantage of, take advantage of them.  

     What I am hearing you say - or maybe I am misinterpreting - when you're suggesting you go in and exhaust all potential, that isn't a customer interaction pickup on a program.  That is you targeting, going in and spending money proactively.  Is that what you're suggesting?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  Well, and when you say "proactively," I think when I design programs, I think there is even a greater sense of proactiveness.  

     I talked in my direct testimony about targeting the highest users first, but when I work with utilities on low-income programs, I say we really are trying to use energy efficiency as a tool to accomplish a variety of utility-related things.  

     One of those is to save energy and to get the cost reduction by providing the cost-effective alternative to providing supply.  

     The other is to get these non-energy benefits.  And so when I work with utilities, I say, Dukane - Dukane is a light company - Nipsco or Citizens Gas and Utilities, you should pull out the customers that you know owe you money and have reason to believe can't afford -- owe you money because they can't afford to pay your bills, then proactively do outreach to those customers, because those are the customers where you know you're going to get the double bang for your buck.  

     So I think in putting a program on the streets, there is an element of proactiveness that even goes beyond what I think you're thinking of.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess what I'm getting at is how far do you take the proportionality notion -- I will swing back to what you said in a moment, but just to finish off the proportionality rule we may be looking for.  Would it be correct to describe it as a minimum proportion for low-income, that there is no reason why someone who is below the 125 percent threshold couldn't take advantage of a program that was designed for the general residential?  

     MR. COLTON:  Yes, I agree with what you just said. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  But based on your evidence, it is unlikely that they will because of the economic barriers that are there in the first place. 

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  So there won't be a lot of taking-up.  So the envelope of money that we're left with, within the low-income bracket, in program design and the proportionality, to introduce the comprehensive programs you're discussing, with that envelope of money, we are going to still have the 50-year duration or the long-term duration.  We haven't done much to change that; is that right?  

     MR. COLTON:  I agree.  It would take a long time to reach all eligible low-income households, and that's unfortunate, but that's reality.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  So would you suggest - I'm doubling back to the notion that you have to be careful about going in half-hearted with these things, because it is difficult to make the second visit - that the program design, by its very nature, has to spend a lot of dollars on few units to be effective?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.
     MR. COLTON:  And there is a tension there.  You can spend few dollars on more units and therefore lose the opportunity to ever go back and treat those folks again; or you can treat people comprehensively and when you treat people comprehensively, you're accepting the fact that doing that means you're going to treat fewer people per year.
     There is a tension there.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  That's all I have.  Thanks.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Vlahos.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Colton, just one question, at least in one area.  There may be a couple of questions.
     On this, the designing of low-income bracket programs, targeted programs, we talked about the eligibility, the need to set up some kind of a criteria to render eligibility.
     Now, that has to come at a cost.  Based on your experience of those programs south of the border, is it quantum we can attach to this per customer, per participant, per something?  What can you advise us on that?
     MR. COLTON:  Well, the programs that I work with, I generally see administrative costs which are primarily intake and outreach in the 10 to 15 percent range.
     If an administrative cost gets above 10 to 15 percent, then there needs be to be some justification for it.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Those, then, would be -- the 10 to 15 percent would be over and above what would be a program, another program, say, targeted for the general residential customer?
     MR. COLTON:  There would be an administrative cost for residential programs.  But I don't do residential programs, so I am not sure what that admin costs would be.
     So there would be an admin cost, but it would probably be less than 10 to 15 percent.
     MR. VLAHOS:  So the 10 to 15 percent is not the incremental cost because of this program; it is just the global number in terms of administration costs for a program of that kind?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  If you spend a million dollars on low-income DSM, odds are that $100,000 to $150,000 of that million will be on admin costs.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  You wouldn't know how much of that would be due to this eligibility effort?
     MR. COLTON:  No.  It really depends on how the utility decides to do the eligibility and intake.
     If a utility adopts a hard-line stand and says, We need to know your income and you have to bring in tax returns, and so on and so forth, clearly your administrative costs are going to be higher than if a utility says, Look, eligibility in the following half-dozen programs establishes the fact that you’re income eligible.  We don't need to know your income because we know that if you're participating in this program, you're going to be eligible.  That will be a lower administrative cost.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Finally, Mr. Colton, it goes to this: the tax return notion.  The fact that I have to walk into or send my tax return or show it to someone or have a discussion around it with someone, based on your experience out there, could that discourage, dissuade people to become participants?
     MR. COLTON:  It would not only discourage low-income customers from being participants, but particularly if you -- if a utility really uses its DSM programs, not simply to generate the cost-effective supply side alternatives but to address these other non-energy benefits, then it becomes a real barrier, because you're doing outreach to people or a utility is doing outreach to somebody that owes them money and then saying, Oh, by the way, in order to participates in this program, you have to bring in your tax return.  And the low-income household says, Not in your life.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So how does -- that's a barrier, then.  The fact now we have put as a criteria that you have to supply your tax returns, that becomes a barrier, from what I hear you saying.
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  You really want to establish, if possible, in the program design part of the DSM planning an income eligibility determination that's a toggle.  So you don't need to know -- a utility doesn't need to know the exact dollar of income so long as it knows whether somebody is eligible.
     It should be a yes/no question.  It shouldn't make any difference what the exact income is.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So if I went to, then -- if I want to admin -- if I went around the program as a utility, then I would still need someone, some kind of an agency, that has this kind of information to give me the yes or no?
     MR. COLTON:  You would need an intake agency that could do income verification, yes.  But as was suggested, that income verification might simply be somebody bringing in proof that they are receiving benefits through --
     MR. VLAHOS:  It goes back to my original question, though, that I do not have to -- now that I have to show that to someone or send that information to someone, would that be a deterrent?  Would that be a discouragement to participate?
     I don't care if the utility receives the information or some other agency.  The fact that I do have to provide that information, does that discourage?
     MR. COLTON:  It may discourage somewhat, but that is why you want to use community-based organizations rather than the utility staff.
     Setting aside the fact that the utility staff really isn't in the business of doing income verification and community-based organizations often are, you really ameliorate or mitigate that problem by using what I suggested in my direct testimony, the network of community-based organizations to do that income verification.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Are you aware of any empirical evidence on this as to any service as to how people may react if they have to show that confidential information?
     MR. COLTON:  Well, yes.  There's significant empirical data.  And it is not simply energy programs either.  It's a program -- it really doesn't make any difference what program you're talking about.
     In the States, when I do work with food stamps or with medical assistance, Medicaid, any of those programs, to the extent that you get -- you require very personalized disclosure of income information, it becomes a barrier, which is why you want to move toward the toggle. 
     MR. VLAHOS:  It hasn't been talked about at all in this proceeding.  Is that something -- would you say that is a significant factor?
     MR. COLTON:  No.
     MR. VLAHOS:  It isn't?  Nothing to add?
     MR. COLTON:  Well, one of the things to remember is, to go back to the conversation we had up here, which is if Ontario utilities were to treat 100 percent of their low-income eligible customers, it would take decades to do that.
     So particularly in the next 10 or 15 years, the possibility that it would be such a barrier that there wouldn't be eligible customers that would be enrolled in the program, won't be a problem.
     When we get out 25 years, assuming we're still doing similar programs, then we might have to start figuring out how to really address that barrier, but not in our lifetimes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Colton.
     MS. NOWINA:  I'm just going to follow up on that line of questioning a little bit.  

Two questions.  To go to your last comment.  If, for example, the funding we’re suggesting would only accommodate 10 percent of the people that are eligible and 50 percent of the people are discouraged from applying because of these barriers we have talked about, you have still got enough people to develop the programs and spend all of the budget that you're talking about?
     MR. COLTON:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  And then the second thing I wanted to ask you about was that if the programs or the intake is delivered through an agency or another social service program that already has those eligibility requirements, that it is essentially targeted at their clientele who have already passed that barrier by the fact that they are their clientele; would that be true?  

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So the barrier has already been passed for those people?  

     MR. COLTON:  I agree with that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are our 

questions.  

Ms. Abouchar, do you need to redirect based on those questions?  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I have one procedural question.  I don't have any redirect on your specific questions.  


Normally when an exhibit, this Exhibit 8.5, which we haven't seen yet, was put in cross, normally I would have an opportunity to re-examine on that.

     MR. O'LEARY:  We have copies available right now, Madam Chair.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I would like to maybe look at it over lunch and -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  You would like to do that after lunch?

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I think I would like the opportunity to look at it over lunch, yes, and permission to speak with my witness about it.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, this document was provided to my friend on Wednesday evening.  If she hasn't looked at it, I don't believe that that is a procedural basis to extend her examination and come back at the end of the day.  

I mean, she has had an opportunity to review it.  I would have thought she would have reviewed it with this witness, because it is the source document for one of the numbers in the table that he worked with.  


The fact that she didn't is not a justification for further examination of her own witness, in our respectful submission. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, can you give Ms. Abouchar and the Board panel a copy of the document now?

     MR. O'LEARY:  She has a copy. 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I did get an electronic version and I briefly looked as it, but I haven't seen a printed version carefully.  Mr. Bourke passed out the document.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  If I could save time, it's at the bottom of the second page, third page in, I guess, if you exclude the title page.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Remind me, again, Mr. O'Leary, what was your undertaking?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, it may be the undertaking is not necessary now.  The request was to simply have Mr. Colton confirm that the statistics identified in this source document is that the number of tenants which pay their own utilities is in the range of 20 to 25 percent, which translates into meaning that 75 to 80 percent do not.  I was simply asking for him to confirm that in fact that is what this source document indicates.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That seems like a very straightforward question, Ms. Abouchar, that we can get answered.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Well, I have concerns with this document.  There are footnotes that are referenced and not provided.  There isn't a footnote to -- a reference to this particular sentence that reads:  “While statistics are notoriously hard to come by, it is estimated that …”  

I just have concerns with this document.  I mean, it says what it says.  It goes to weight, Madam Chair, I would suggest.  But on the basis of these concerns, I would have wanted a little time to discuss it with my witness first.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  In fairness, Madam Chair, the document was provided to my friend.  If she felt that it needed to be further researched, she had the opportunity over the last several days to do it.  

     As matters turn out, she had two days, rather than one, as required under the rules, and she actually answered her own question, which is, if she has concerns about it, she can express it in argument and it is a matter of you taking it into account and giving it appropriate weight. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Abouchar, it is true you had the document for two days?  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I had, but I asked Mr. O'Leary whether he was going to put it to the witness, and the answer was no, he wasn't going to put it in as an exhibit, so I didn't get into it.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I said I may refer to these in cross-examination.  And that's not to imply one thing or the other. 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  We can look at the e-mail, Mr. O'Leary.  But I believe you said you may refer to the one and not to the second one.  

In any event, I asked you this morning if you –- 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Abouchar I would like to follow up with Mr. Colton, if you don't mind.  


Mr. Colton, the figure of 75 percent, did that link to this 20 to 25 percent that is on this exhibit that you have in front of you?  Is this the source of that 75 percent you had?  

     MR. COLTON:  The 75 percent comes from the company, and I believe company counsel just indicated that that 75 percent comes from the last paragraph on page 3 of this document.  So I accept that the company uses this document as their source document.  

The significance of this source document is -- I would have to look at the entire document.  I would have to find out what this document means when it refers to their hydro bills.  It would seem not to apply to natural gas bills.  But I would have to look at the total document to really know what these three pages are trying to say.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, could you just direct me to the exhibit that gave rise to this discussion, other than this -- 

     MR. COLTON:  Yes.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  8.2, was it?  K8.2?  

     MR. COLTON:  If you look at K6.3 -- oh, no, this isn't it.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  If I may assist, Mr. Vlahos.  It is Exhibit 8.4, line 8.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  One second, please.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Line 8 refers to 75 percent, with a 

footnote 6.  And it footnotes the document, I believe, we have just been provided.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Vlahos, if I could perhaps help as well.  You will recall in my discussion with Mr. Colton, if we go to Exhibit K8.2, the bottom table you will see at row 8 the column on the left-hand side includes the figure of 75 percent, which is the numbers from the source document.  

To the right you will see that Mr. Colton has used a number of 71 percent.  And in fact he admitted that that number is probably low and it should be should be 75 percent.  The only purpose of the source document was to indicate in fact the number could be higher than 75 percent.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  And just to complete the record, Mr. Colton did say in re-examination that the number could be lower than 75 percent based on the TEA report that I referred him to, figure 11 and figure 12, which has it more in the range of 50 percent.  Just to complete that record on that issue.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, could I ask you:  The Exhibit K8.4, that is your exhibit, is it?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, it is a table we put together, sir. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Your footnote 6, was that sourced in Mr. 

Colton's evidence anywhere?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  No, sir. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  It was not?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  No.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Madam Chair, I believe Mr. Colton has given the answer that Mr. O'Leary sought on undertaking.  As far as I am concerned, this issue seems to have been exhausted.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think it has, Ms. Abouchar.  I just am briefly looking at the document.  It appears to be entirely about electricity.  I think Mr. Colton has responded.  We can leave that matter.  We will complete with this witness panel.  

Thank you very much, Mr. Colton, for your assistance.  

     MR. COLTON:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We will break now until 1:30, at which time we will have Mr. Neme.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.  


--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Did any matters arise during the break?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, we have several undertakings that have been responded to which have been distributed and should be on your desk.  I don't propose to go through them unless there are questions about them, but they are, for the record, J6.1 through 3 and J7.1.  I believe that completes the outstanding undertakings owed by Enbridge.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary     

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, there is one additional matter:  I believe we're looking at a change in the start time.

MS. NOWINA:  We are.
     MR. MILLAR:  Normally we start at 9:00.  I think the intention now is to begin at 10:00 a.m. on Monday.

MS. NOWINA:  That's right, Mr. Millar.  

Anything else?
     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, Mr. Chris Neme has taken the witness stand, and just before we have him sworn, just perhaps -- we have distributed a bound copy of documents titled “Additional GEC Materials.”  I'm wondering if we should give that an exhibit number then I will put it to him.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Poch.
     MR. MILLAR:  K8.6.
     EXHIBIT NO. K8.6:  BOUND DOCUMENT ENTITLED 

“ADDITIONAL GEC MATERIALS”
MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:
MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I may, I do have a potential -- I will ask Mr. Poch through you, but I have a significant procedural concern relating to the materials that have just been marked as an exhibit.  It is an issue of fairness.  

As I understand these materials which are -- which were e-mailed the other day following Mr. Farmer and Ms. Lynch's testimony, at least as it relates to plan development and financial matters, the purpose of these documents - which frankly largely relate to Enbridge, with one exception, relates to a Union document - are going to be adduced, I imagine -- although I don't know this for sure, I imagine they're going to be adduced to establish that there are other things utilities could be doing in order to spend more money by way of budget.
     And the concern I have is, in my submission, as a matter of fairness, these documents, to the extent they are being adduced for that purpose, ought to, (a), have been included in Mr. Neme's evidence in-chief; and if not – sorry, in his prefiled evidence; if not in his prefiled evidence, at a minimum ought to have been put to Mr. Farmer and Ms. Lynch.  

And I looked through the record with some attention, both yesterday and today, and there is not a single reference to these documents to Mr. Farmer and Ms. Lynch.
     And particularly as it relates to the documents that are Enbridge-specific, Mr. Poch, when he asked whether the Union witnesses agreed with matters that have been put to the Enbridge panel, he has quite carefully and quite appropriately said “I take it you agree” relating to questions relating to program design and specific Enbridge initiatives.  

So in my submission, it is absolutely not appropriate for Mr. Neme to testify to this.
     I would say at a minimum, if he is to be allowed to testify to this, then the utilities ought to have the opportunity, the limited opportunity, to call their witnesses in reply to respond to any suggestion that they can spend more money on particular programs, because frankly, they were not put to the witnesses at first instance.
     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, may I reply briefly?
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:
     MR. POCH:  First of all, I believe it is on?
     If we actually look at the materials we're proposing to file, the first one is Mr. Neme's evidence in the recent Enbridge case, part of which is already on the record, Mr. Klippenstein's cross book.  

I put some general propositions that arose from it to the witnesses, the Enbridge witnesses, and we're putting it here with the -- with some of the sporting interrogatories that arose in that proceeding, so you have the complete package.
     Mr. Neme won't be referring to this in great detail.  It is simply -- so you've got the source documents for a couple of the examples.  

He has -- I take my friend's point.  We are into a program design hearing here, and we don't propose to get into a debate about program design.  My friend is right, of course, that we are going to suggest that there are examples that show the manner in which these utilities could productively spend more, and I think none of this material is certainly new to my friends.
     The second, behind tab 3 -- tab 2 is the supporting interrogatories that come along with tab 1, if you will.
     Tab 3 is a single page from Mr. Neme's evidence in a recent Union case; again, something that my friends are certainly aware of, and, I should add, all of the numbers in it are from Union materials.  I don't think there is any debate about that.  

The fourth tab is a brief excerpt from Mr. Neme's evidence for JC in the recent electric LDC motion of December 22nd, and I believe my friends were parties to that.  I seem to recall at least Enbridge was.  I apologize if I've overstated it there.
     And this will be cited for -- simply because there are some statistics gathered here of the kinds of ramp-ups that have been seen in other jurisdictions.
     I should say, Madam Chair, the situation we're in here is we are faced with a partial settlement where there are proposed -- actual proposed TRC targets.
     This was not on the agenda.  Indeed, there is a procedural question, and this wasn't really on the issues list.  The actual issue is:  Should there be TRC targets and how should they be set?  Not, what should they be, and should we go through that program.  

We had assumed, coming into this process, that that's what the implementation phase is about - we sit down and build up these targets - and that we weren't going to be faced with an actual target.  

We are now faced with an actual target, and we're trying to be helpful here and have a debate about whether that target is appropriate and whether the Board should entertain an actual target in this case, as opposed to simply standing on our rights and saying they shouldn't have been able to put that deal in.  

I think in that situation we're perfectly entitled to reply, in effect, we're in a situation of in effect leading reply evidence to what has been thrust upon us as a result of the partial ADR and the information we heard for the first time when their witnesses were on the stand when they're saying, We can't ramp up.  It is too hard.  Well, that wasn't part of their original case.
     So I think we're perfectly clear we're entitled to lead what is in the nature of reply evidence to the surprise that we've had.
     Finally, turning to the rest of the tabs.  Tab 5 is I had undertaken to ask Mr. Neme to confirm a number that I put on the -- to the witnesses in cross, just about the -- what's been accomplished in EnerGuide.  And indeed, I believe some of these numbers were also in the record in previous cases, but I don't think there is any doubt about the appropriateness of putting that in.  

Tab 6, again, is just a compilation of statistics from these utilities’ filings.       

I don't think that there is any debate about the accuracy of the numbers here.  My friends are welcome -- if that is a concern, by all means, we can deal with that.
     The final tab is simply a convenient slide that we came upon that just -- just to help illustrate the point.  I don't think there is any factual information there that is -- my friends would complain about.  It is simply a helpful graphic.
     So in short, Madam Chair, this is in the nature of reply on our part to matters that first arose in their oral evidence in many cases, and I think we're entitled to bring that in.  It is not matters we could have easily dealt with in-chief, because this wasn't really an issue at that point.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O’LEARY:
     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I could perhaps just speak to the several tabs that relate specifically to Enbridge materials.

As my friend Mr. Poch identified, they are the prefiled evidence by Mr. Neme from the 2006 rates case and several select responses to interrogatories. 

     What in essence he is asking to do is have filed as an exhibit in this proceeding their evidence from another proceeding, and then you would not have the benefit of any of the oral testimony or the written prefiled testimony of Enbridge in that proceeding, which, I might add, if I could state the nutshell, what they were seeking in that case was a ramped-up, expanded budget for Enbridge and its DSM program, and that was specifically not approved by the Board.  


My friend is now trying to get in through the back door in this proceeding the same proposition that he was making in that rate case and suggesting that this is an appropriate procedural way to do it.  

Our respectful submission is it would be most unfair – indeed, prejudicial - to Enbridge to allow the record to stand from the 2006 rates case without, as Mr. Smith indicated, at least the right of reply and perhaps the opportunity to file most of the 2006 rates case to try and respond to this.  

     So my friend, to characterize it as being he didn't know, is a little unfair because they have asked for this very relief - in other words, something greater than the partial settlement - in an earlier case.  To say they were taken by surprise that parties did that - which he should have expected, which is to sit down and try to negotiate a set of rules which would operate for a number of years - should not take him or anyone else here by surprise.  

     Our submission - and I support Mr. Smith on this - is that it is completely improper procedurally and unfair to Enbridge and to Union.  

     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I won't embark on a long comment here except to note, Madam Chair, it was, as I recall, the panelist chair of that proceeding, first of all.  And I think it is not wrong for me to say that the Board's decision in that case was in effect to defer these very issues, some of these very issues to this case; that is, the general direction that we should be heading with DSM.  That's what we're here to respond to.  We're not going to be advocating specific programs or anything that is illustrative of the kinds of things we're talking about.   

     My point about not being aware was that I think it's perfectly clear that setting an actual TRC target was not something that was, strictly speaking, on the issues list in this case.  It was not something we anticipated.  I think we were appropriate in not anticipating that, and it's only arisen as a result of the settlement.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have a comment?  

Mr. Shepherd?  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  

I will comment that this is not the first time we've had tussles like this in this proceeding, and I must say that I'm surprised at the number of times people have complained about other people playing games; sometimes with justification, sometimes not.  

     But in this particular case, Mr. Millyard sent these materials, I believe, to everybody two days ago, and they are materials that are on the public record.  For the utilities to say they're prejudiced in any way by material that is on the public record and that they knew about two days ago being put to a witness, I think, is inappropriate.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  

Mr. Klippenstein.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  From the perspective of Pollution Probe, which somewhat overlaps the issue here, is -- the ability to argue for a larger budget in certain cases for DSM is, in my submission, an important part of this hearing.  So the Board, within reason, I would imagine, would want to have evidence, especially from an expert, available to that, if it is a serious issue.  

     And that's what some of these documents go to.  Since they're all on the record and often actual utility numbers, and there was some degree of notice, that the overall importance of, in my submission, being able to consider the possibility of higher budgets for the information of the Board would far outweigh any significant, in fairness -- which I don't think, frankly, think there is any.  So in order to be able to give some thought to the possibility of larger budgets, in my submission, this should go in.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair -- I'm sorry.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let me hear from other parties first, please, Mr. Smith. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. ABOUCHAR:

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Madam Chair, I support Mr. Poch.  In addition, given that there was full notice of these documents - it was clear over the last couple of days they would be introduced - we have adopted the principle that we're interested in having all of the information on the record that will assist you.  

     I think that in the interests of a full record, Mr. Poch should be allowed to use these documents.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar?  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I haven't reviewed the documents in detail and I don't know exactly which questions Mr. Poch is going to ask, but I think the concern from Mr. Smith and Mr. O'Leary is that I'm thinking back to first year law school, but he may be -- their fear is he may be violating a common law rule I think comes from a case called Browne v. Dunn, whereby if you're going to be putting forward a proposition for the Court to accept, in fairness you are meant to present it to the other side and to seek their comment on it.  If I hear their concern, I think it relates to that common-law rule.  

     It may be helpful for the Board to wait and hear exactly what the questions are, but I do support 

Mr. Smith when he says it may be required that they be permitted to give reply testimony on this, depending -- if there are brand new things in here that couldn't have been contemplated by his witnesses in examination-in-chief, then I think they should have an opportunity to respond to that.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:

     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, on that basis, I can give some comfort to my friends.  I think we're going to be dealing with this at a pretty general level.  There might be a couple of examples - I believe the EnerGuide is one - where I did put that to their witness explicitly and they were able to comment.  I didn't put the actual numbers.  I didn't have them in front of me, but I put the number, to the best of my recollection, and said I would bring 

Mr. Neme to verify the number.  So I'm not sure that -– this may be a tempest in a teapot.  I'm content we proceed on the basis Board Counsel suggests. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if it makes the issue simpler, I'm quite prepared to have Mr. Neme testify on the understanding that, whether Mr. Poch puts them in for illustrative purposes or otherwise, if there are particular programs or sorts of programs that Mr. Neme says that the utilities could run, I can tell you Mr. Farmer would disagree with that and ought to be afforded the opportunity to reply specifically.  

     Mr. Poch is quite right that he did forward the materials to us and that they came from the utilities through Enbridge; that, however, is not the test.  

     The test, as Mr. Millar articulated correctly, is if you have a particular proposal, you ought to put it to the witness, and the party whose witness it is ought not to have to guess what your case is.  

Yes, he forwarded the documents, but until I hear Mr. Neme say the use of the document, I can't very well put it to Mr. Farmer, only at the various hypothetical level.  

     So I am fine if the document goes in.  But Mr. Farmer, to the extent it is necessary, we would like the opportunity to reply previously.  That's it.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think we've reached a resolution that everyone agrees with, so you will have that right, Mr. Smith, if it seems appropriate.  

Mr. Poch, on that basis --

     MR. POCH:  If that's the case, then I would ask Mr. Neme be sworn.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. O'Leary. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Assuming that the right to have a reply?  

     MS. NOWINA:  It would extend to Enbridge as well.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     MR. POCH:  Thank you.  

GREEN ENERGY COALITION - PANEL 1:

Chris Neme; Sworn

     EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH:

     MR. POCH:  Mr. Neme, do you adopt Exhibit L, tab 5, your report and the materials we've been referring to and your answers in the technical conference and your undertaking responses flowing from that as your evidence?  

     MR. NEME:  I do.  

     MR. POCH:  I would just like to touch, briefly, on your credentials.  

They appear, Madam Chair, at the back of Exhibit L, tab 5.  

     You're a director of planning and evaluation at VEIC, which is Vermont Energy Investment Corporation?

     MR. NEME:  I am.  

     MR. POCH:  You're also a member of their senior management team?  

     MR. NEME:  I am.  

     MR. POCH:  Could you just tell us a little bit about what VEIC is. 

     MR. NEME:  VEIC is a non-profit organization with an annual budget of approximately $20 million, a staff of a little over 100.  We do a variety of different things in the energy efficiency and renewable energy fields.  

In particular, we administer the state-wide system benefit charge for electric DSM programs in the State of Vermont.  We have also served from time to time as an energy service company, an ESCO.  We do a lot of consulting on DSM policy, DSM program design, program evaluation, market assessment, and so on.  

     MR. POCH:  All right.  And what's your particular role at Efficiency Vermont?
     MR. NEME:  I am, as you noted earlier, a member of the Vermont Energy Investment Corporation senior management team and Efficiency Vermont senior management team, just for point of clarification.  

Efficiency Vermont is a virtual organization.  It is essentially a marketing name under which we deliver the electric efficiency services state-wide.
     In my capacity as a member of VEIC senior management team, I provide -- or are one of several people who are responsible for providing strategic direction to the work of Efficiency Vermont, and I also manage all of the consulting work and the consulting staff who do work on DSM program -- DSM policy, DSM program design, and evaluation, and so on, across the US, Canada, and we're also doing work now in China, Vietnam, and some other places.
     MR. POCH:  I take it you have been an invited speaker at numerous American and Canadian conferences, including most recently the Canadian Gas Association CAMPUT workshop on DSM policy issues?
     MR. NEME:  That's correct.
     MR. POCH:  You have testified before regulators in a number of US states, as well as in Quebec and Ontario, I imagine, on numerous occasions?
     MR. NEME:  Too many to count in Ontario, yes.
     MR. POCH:  And I take it you've -- and you've been found to be an expert witness in DSM on previous occasions before this Board?
     MR. NEME:  I have.
     MR. POCH:  You've served on - I'm not sure if it is all but - virtually all of both the Union and Enbridge committees since these committees were first initiated?
     MR. NEME:  I have.
     MR. POCH:  Your position was as a result of various stakeholders voting you into that position, I take it?
     MR. NEME:  That's correct.
     MR. POCH:  Is it fair to say that you have some knowledge of both Enbridge and Union's previous DSM programs and portfolios and in some cases some specific knowledge about the markets that they are addressing?
     MR. NEME:  Yes.  Even going back to the first Enbridge DSM case been involved in reviewing, if not every, then virtually every one of both the utilities' DSM plan filings over the last dozen years or so.  

I have been involved in numerous conversations about the efficiency markets with which the Enbridge and Union staff are attempting to address through their DSM programs.
     I have been involved in the development of proposals for different programs and conversations about those with staff of both utilities.
     MR. POCH:  All right.  Do you have any concerns about the partial settlement including the utilities?
     MR. NEME:  Yes, I have two overarching concerns and several more specific ones.
     With respect to the overarching concerns, the two overarching concerns:  The first one is that key elements of the agreement set out -- or fail to set out principles and identify the outcomes that flow from those policy principles and, rather, are simply a financial deal of sorts.
     The second concern I have is that the implications of that financial deal are that they largely entrench the status quo with respect to DSM in Ontario on the gas side, which, for reasons I have articulated in previous cases, as well as in this case, I think is problematic.
     MR. POCH:  All right.  Can you elaborate on each of those two concerns.
     MR. NEME:  Sure.  With respect to the concern about not setting out the principles and identifying outcomes that flow from them, key pieces of the settlement agreement in particular, or, for example, the proposed budgets and the proposed TRC targets were numbers that were clearly negotiated but for which there hasn't been a thorough systematic approach articulated in terms of how they were developed or the policy principles underlying how they were developed.  

In essence, I would characterize this as the deal having proceeded past some of the generic policy questions that the Board asked the various parties to address and proceeding straight to the kind of DSM plan conclusions that one would anticipate, or at least I would have anticipated, having been addressed in a DSM implementation phase, with all of the facts that are necessary to truly support them, which I would submit is not the case today.
     With respect to entrenching the status quo, the -- there hasn't been significant consideration that I can discern to all of the various factors that one might want to consider from a principle perspective about where the DSM efforts of the utilities should be headed.  And as a result, the relatively modest increases in budget, for example, that have been proposed, the absence of any new guidance on the directions that the DSM portfolio ought to take with respect to things like greater investment in market transformation, lost opportunity markets, and equity and so on, are not there.
     I would submit that the result is likely to be a tinkering around the edges of the kinds of DSM efforts the utilities currently have or in recent past, anyway, have been implementing.
     MR. POCH:  All right.  And can we then look at the specific components of the proposal that are of concern?
     MR. NEME:  Yes.  There are -- for me there are four major areas worth talking about: the budget, the structure of the shareholder incentive mechanism, the implicit program mix that will result, and the initial TRC targets set and the ratcheting process proposed to follow from that.
     MR. POCH:  Let's take those in turn.  Can you speak to the question of the budget.
     MR. NEME:  In my view, this is the single-most important and troublesome issue with the settlement.
     As I noted earlier, there is no -- the setting of that budget does not seem to have been an outcome of a systematic analysis of what the budget should be and/or the following of a set of principles about what the budget should be.  The result is, as I noted earlier, relatively modest increases.
     As I noted in my prefiled evidence, I believe that we should start with a fundamental policy principle and that principle - or what I, on occasion, have called a prime directive - is that the utilities should maximize investment in energy efficiency; should capture as much energy efficiency resources as possible, that is, subject to two constraints.  

And those two constraints are the possibility of undue rate impacts, number one; and the ability to ramp-up efficiently and effectively to capture those resources, number two.
     MR. POCH:  Let me just interrupt you.  By saying “maximize energy efficiency,” would you constrain that to cost-effective?
     MR. NEME:  I would.  I would constrain it to cost-effective efficiency.  In some respects, this is the -- it's what I would -- another way of putting it:  It is kind of an economic optimality approach that I think was embodied in a question that Board Member Mr. Vlahos asked one of the company witnesses several days ago.
     Now, that's the primary point I wanted to make in my evidence with respect to the budget-setting process.
     I made a secondary point, which was that, in my view, it would seem appropriate for the utilities to ramp up over the next three-year plan to spending in the range of 2 percent of their total revenues or more.
     Now, I clarified this because I think there was a little confusion about it in the Technical Conference.  I clarified it there, to be a little bit more specific, that what I had in mind when I made that statement in my written evidence - I apologized at the time this wasn't clearer - was that it could ramp up to 2 percent or more relative to what I had in my mind as Enbridge's estimated revenues for 2006, from their prior case.  If I recall right, that was about 2.6 billion.  So 2 percent would be roughly $50 million.
     Now, I haven't thoroughly read every word of the transcripts over the last couple of days.  I have read some of the cross of the different witnesses.  So I may have missed something by not having read them cover to cover.  But my general take is, or at least from what I have read, I haven't heard anyone fundamentally disagree with what I consider to be my prime directive; that the utilities, subject to concerns about undue rate impacts and ability to ramp up, should go after the maximum amount of cost-effective DSM that they can.
     Now, if you accept that directive, that policy directive, you essentially have to ask yourself three questions.  You face three possible hurdles.  The first is a question of what is the magnitude of the opportunity out there.  

     Now, my own analysis - and I will refer to one of the tabs now that we were discussing earlier, and that is tab 3; and this is going back to some work that was done on a previous Union case - my own analysis suggests that in a number of key markets, using this particular example, the utilities are not getting very deep market penetrations.  
In most cases, you can see the market penetrations for a variety of their different programs are less than 10 percent.  That suggests that there is significant untapped cost-effective potential out there.  That's one indicator.  

     A second indicator -- and I will come now to evidence that Dan Violette submitted or wrote and that the company submitted.  He noted in the report that he co-authored with Rich Sedano for CAMPUT that it is on the electric side the leading utilities, leading jurisdictions are spending 3 percent or more on cost-effective DSM and finding that that is not adequate to capture all cost-effective efficiency.  
He went on to say in that very same report that there is no reason to expect the gas utility situation to be significantly different.  

     I would concur with that assessment.  My firm has been part of a team recently that has been doing an analysis of gas DSM potential for the State of New York.  We previously, a couple of years ago, did a very similar assessment of electric DSM potential for the State of New York, and I can tell you, in both cases, the economic potential on both the gas and the electric side, while not identical, is quite close in percentage terms, expressed as a percent of sales.  

     So that's one of the hurdles:  Is there enough opportunity out there for the utilities to be able to capture additional resources?  

I would suggest, given those observations, that there's abundant evidence, that there is much more opportunity that they aren't tapping.  

     MR. POCH:  Just to be clear.  For comparison, then, what is your understanding of what the partial settlement would take them up to, expressed in the same percentage of revenues basis, ballpark?  

     MR. NEME:  On the order of 1 percent or less.  


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. NEME:  Now, that brings us to the second hurdle, that of rate impacts.  

     Now, there has been no analysis done of the rate impacts of the proposed budget in the settlement.  I have not -- and I don't believe I have the wherewithal to do an assessment of rate impacts for a higher budget.  

     However, the utility witnesses did suggest that they did not believe that they were bumping against a rate impact constraint with respect to the budget in the settlement, and no one has presented any evidence to suggest that there are undue rate impacts if we were to increase spending, for example, to $50 million in the third year.


I would also note that in other jurisdictions where they are spending considerably more, regulators have not found rate impacts to be undue.  

     Finally, I would note that, in most cases - and California may be the one exception - when those regulators have considered those higher levels of spending and whether they caused undue rate impacts, they have typically not considered a benefit that might actually have downward pressure on rates.  And that is that the -- investments in energy efficiency, investments in demand side management programs, several studies in the US have recently suggested, can have the effect of lowering overall market clearing prices.  

I believe Dan Violette concurred with that assessment.  He noted it was with respect to spot market prices but over time spot market prices will find their way into the costs of longer term contracts.  

     Just by way of example, the study that I noted earlier that my firm is involved in in analysing energy efficiency potential for the State of New York, there is another firm that's part of our team for that study, and they were tasked with doing this analysis just for the State of New York.  So it is on a smaller scale.  Clearly the effects of DSM on market clearing prices will be smaller the smaller the jurisdiction that you're talking about.  

     So in this case, we're looking at just one state.  And although this report is not yet final - it is in draft form - the preliminary results suggest that the benefits in terms of reduced bills from lowering market clearing prices on the gas side are about six times what the investment in DSM spending would be over the five-year DSM program period that was analyzed.  

     So keep in mind that there rate impacts can come from two things.  Actually, rate impacts are a function of three things.  They're a function of DSM spending, which leads to increased rates; lost revenues, that is, when consumption is lower, you have to spread fixed costs across a smaller volume of sales, so that also leads to increased rates; and then moving in the other direction is the effect of lowering future capital investments and things like pipeline and storage and so on.  

     This, in essence, becomes a fourth factor that typically has not been considered but ought to be considered.  And I would make an additional note that at this particular example that I have cited, as well as, actually, all of the other studies that I am familiar with that have been done in the US on this issue, the firm that has done the analysis - they're called, if I remember 

right, EEA, Energy and Environmental Analysis, I believe - they are a firm that typically works for the oil and gas industry, so they have a fair amount of credibility.  And I don't know this for an absolute fact, but I have been told that they in fact have a business relationship with one or both of the gas utilities in the room here today.  

     I would suggest that as an aside that going forward, it would be good to have someone like that engaged in doing this kind of analysis for the province of Ontario as well.  

     So that's the second hurdle.  There's adequate opportunity.  


There's no evidence that rate impacts of higher spending would be problematic.  So that leads us to the question of ramp-up.  

     Now, as I read the transcripts, or at least the portions of them that I did read, this seems to be the issue on which the utilities are hanging their hat, and I am saying that we couldn’t possibly effectively ramp up to spend more.  

     And they had Dr. Violette testify to the notion that it takes time to introduce new programs, to develop them - at least if you're going to do a good job - to test them, develop relationships with the vendors that you need to develop, get them out in the field, and so on.  

     I want to say at the outset that I completely agree with Dan's conclusion on that point.  However, it's a huge leap to go from that statement to the notion that you can't possibly ramp up to increased spending by more than 5 or 10 percent.  

Broadly speaking, you can increase spending two ways:  You can introduce new programs that cost money and spend money on those programs, or you can increase spending on existing programs.  That seems to cover the waterfront.  

     With respect to new programs, as I said, I agree with the notion it does take time to develop good new programs and ramp them up.  But we're talking about a three-year plan here.  There are very few programs -- let me put it another way.  There are many programs with which I am familiar that one could introduce within the time frame of a three-year plan and ramp up to points where they're actually getting significant enough market penetration to justify significant budgets by the third year.  

     That may not be universally true of every single possible program concept you could conceive of, but it is true of many.   

     With respect to existing programs -- and this is where I want to turn to tab 6, which is an itemization of a number of different programs that the utilities, Enbridge and Union, have in the field today and identification of the incentive levels that they have been offering and their estimates of the incremental costs that those incentives are designed to at least partially offset.
     Then if you look at the column after that, which is the ratio of those two numbers, that is the percent of incremental costs that they are -- rebates are covering.  In most cases, it is quite small; in many cases, it is under 10 percent.  In some cases, it is well under 10 percent.  Those are very low rebate levels.  And as a result, it's not entirely surprising that for some of these very same markets, their market penetration rates are also very low.
     Now, the concern about ramp-up has often been expressed as one about capability or the time it takes to develop things.  For many of these programs and many of these markets, the utilities have been talking to the key market players and promoting efficiency with them for years.  They have been talking to builders and developers and architects, and so on, for a long time.  So a lot of the market development activities are -- have been taking place.
     What hasn't happened is -- in many cases is that incentives have not been high enough to gain significant traction in some of these markets.  I would suggest that that is a relatively easy thing that doesn't require a whole lot of capability.  It doesn't require a lot of extra manpower to add a zero to the end of a rebate cheque.  That is something that could be done relatively easily by the utilities.
     Now, I also want to be clear that I am not suggesting that they simply pay higher rebate cheques for the sake of spending more money.  That would be silly.  You should only spend as much as you really need to spend to overcome market barriers and you shouldn't spend it if you aren’t actually getting societal benefits from it.  However, as has been amply demonstrated in the DSM field for decades, in many cases, higher rebate dollars lead to more participation, which leads to greater TRC net benefits.  And in the long-term, in many cases, some elements of market transformation, depending on how you structured your program, so you can begin to lower rebate levels over time.
     Now, I would like to turn to give a couple of illustrations - and this is where Mr. Poch was going earlier - turn to –- excuse me while I find the right tab.  Tab 2.  And page 3 of tab 2.
     This is simply a listing of a half a dozen program concepts that I articulated or explained in the last Enbridge DSM case.  

What is not here, but you can find it in tab 1 on the table on page 15, are the budgetary implications that go with these.
     And just to give you a flavour for what additional spending might look like on some of these additional program concepts, I will run through a couple of examples.
     In the case of a residential new construction Energy Star homes program where the utility was offering an incentive more like about $1,200, as opposed to the - I forget if it was $50 or $100 that Enbridge was offering on this one or proposing to offer on this one - the result of the higher rebate dollars and the higher participation rates that would result would be, by the third year, about $7 million more in that year; not cumulative over the three years, but in that year about $7 million more of spending.
     The same logic for the low-income program for using EnerGuide would result in about $5 million in additional incremental spending in the third year.
     The large commercial new construction program would result in about another $5 million of spending in the third year.
     And the condensing boiler market transformation program would result in about another $10 million of incremental spending in the third year.
     Now, again to Mr. Poch's point, I'm not suggesting in this proceeding that these are the programs the utilities should adopt.  This proceeding was not supposed to be about program design, and I am not proposing these necessarily as designs that the utilities ought to adopt and pursue.
     I am simply using them to make the point that while -- that with a different approach to how they design programs, that is, a willingness to spend a little more money on customer rebates and incentives, the utilities can get a lot more savings, a lot more cost-effective savings, a lot more TRC net benefits, but also it would require a lot more spending to get them.
     I would also say that these kinds of program designs are quite common in a variety of other jurisdictions.  I'm not exactly sure where this comes from, but we have had conversations with the utilities off and on for years about this, and they appear to have a philosophical aversion to paying significant rebates or incentives as a share of incremental cost when they're running DSM programs.
     It was pointed out to me, and I noticed somewhat ironically, that if you look at their evidence and, in particular, the proposal that Enbridge, I believe, made to the OPA regarding fuel switching where they were proposing to spend $306 million in incentives over five years to fuel switch a million residential appliances with the incentives covering roughly 50 percent of the incremental cost, that that aversion to higher rebate levels doesn't seem to -- which they seem to apply when it comes to saving energy -- doesn't seem to apply when it comes to load building.
     The last point I would want to make about this is that if you were to expand on the budget, there would be more opportunities for a wider range of folks to participate in programs which would have the effect of mitigating any concerns that one might have about rate impacts.
     Now, with respect to ramp-up, I want to make two other points:  The first is that, in addition to these very specific things I was talking about with respect to Enbridge and Union service territories, I think it is worth noting kind of in the grand scheme of things that a variety of other utilities have ramped up from non-trivial levels of existing spending -- so I'm not talking about people who are starting near zero and triple, because tripling a very small of money doesn't mean a whole lot.  I am talking about utilities that have started with reasonable levels of spending, that have ramped up much faster than the utilities have suggested they could here.
     And this brings us to tab 4, where I gave examples of three of those at the bottom of page 9 and then on to the top of page 10, the three being Efficiency Vermont and my firm's implementation of that contract from the first year or two -- or the third year, where the spending roughly doubled; the Long Island Power Authority, which, in the first couple of years, spending roughly tripled; and then Hydro Quebec, where they had proposed significant increases of spending by a factor of -- growing by a factor of greater than three over the course of a couple of years.
     I would also note that it's not unique -- those levels of ramp-up are not unique to these three examples.  These are just three examples.  I can think of several additional examples.  I had someone dig up some of the numbers for me before coming here.  

For example, in New Jersey and in California and in Wisconsin in the late ‘90s, spending on DSM increased by a factor of two or more; that is, they doubled or grew by a factor of two and a half or something like that over the course of two years.
     In the case of California, since the year 2000, they have tripled again.  California in the mid-‘90s was not starting at a low point.
     So you can start at the micro level and say, What's possible with ramp-up at the individual program level?  Then you can go and look at what's been done at the macro level from a variety of other jurisdictions and found 

ramp-ups have been dramatically higher, and much higher ramp-ups are certainly possible in these service territories.
     The last point I want to make about ramp-ups relates to the role of electric DSM in Ontario.  I did note that, in reading the transcripts, that some concern was raised by one of the company's witnesses - I apologize, I don't remember if it was Mr. Farmer or Mr. Brophy or Mr. Ryckman – that -- and I believe this was in an answer to a question from Mr. Shepherd, but I may be wrong about that -- but there was concern expressed that with OPA pledging to spend $400 million more on electric DSM, that that would make it more difficult for the gas utilities to ramp up quickly.  

     As I understand the argument, it's that now the gas companies need to compete for the attention of the few skilled engineers, and so on, who are out there in the field.  

     That argument troubled me.  And it goes against my experience in a number of different jurisdictions.  While there may be a kernel of truth to the reason they expressed that opinion - that the people with DSM experience, once you have two sets of parties trying to recoup them for staff or whatever, there might be some short-term labour constraints - the experience that I've had is that any effects like that are dramatically offset by the synergies that become possible by integrating electric and gas DSM.  

     Just to give you one very concrete example in my own home state.  We run one of the most successful, in the country, state-wide residential new construction programs, EnergyStar Homes program.  It has one of the highest market shares in the United States.  

     That program -- in the portion of the state which is about a quarter of the state that receives natural gas -- that we have a one gas utility, Vermont Gas, but it only serves about a quarter of the state.  The rest of the state does not have access to natural gas because of mountains and transportation issues and so on.  In the quarter of the State where Vermont Gas operates - and they have their own DSM programs; we have worked very closely with them - we are achieving market penetration rates of 60 percent or higher, the last I looked at the numbers.  In the rest of the state, it is no more than half of that.  

     Now, the reason for that significant difference is that in the Vermont Gas service territory, we are able to combine the resources, the incentives that we, as the providers of the electric DSM services, can provide with the resources and incentives that the gas utility can provide.  And that makes a bigger pool of money, a bigger incentive cheque that builders and consumers can get than they can get in the rest of the state where we can only offer what the electric ratepayers can afford to offer.  
Those kinds of synergies, particularly if you make an attempt, as we have, to create a single integrated program, can far outweigh any of the other disadvantages that the utilities may have expressed about this.  

     So in sum, with respect to budget, I think there is ample evidence there is significant additional opportunities that the utilities are not tapping.  There is no evidence on the record that there would be undue rate impacts and budgets that would ramp up, say, to $50 million dollars by the third year, and I think there is ample evidence that the utilities would not face the kind of ramp-up constraints that they have articulated; in fact, could significantly increase spending quite productively and bring along with it significant increases and benefits to Ontario ratepayers.  

     MR. POCH:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, I just heard you say the word 

"briefly." 

     MR. POCH:  That's right.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I would urge Mr. Neme to be more brief than he has been in his answers to examination in-chief.  

     MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Mr. Neme, could we turn to your second major concern with respect to the proposed SSM structure.  

     MR. NEME:  Yes.  My apologies, Madam Chair, I will be briefer.  


I have two concerns about the proposed SSM structure.  The first relates to the amount of money put on the market transformation incentives.  

If you were to add up what the utilities would earn if they met 100 percent of their TRC target with the half million dollars that's available for market transformation, the market transformation incentives would represent about 10 percent of the total pool of incentives.  

     In my view, particularly given what I consider an important need to push a little harder on -- not a little harder, much harder on the market transformation end of things, that mix should be changed up a little bit so that there is more of the money on market transformation and a little bit less on TRC.  The majority should still be on TRC, but ...

     MR. POCH:  Let me just interrupt you there and ask you what you mean by “market transformation.”  Are you talking about the pure market transformation, as we’ve heard it discussed, that doesn't involve TRC?  

     MR. NEME:  No.  As Dan Violette noted the other day, a market transformation is really about fundamentally changing the way markets work so that there is some kind of fundamental structural change sometime in the future.  

     Market transformation has nothing to do with the distinction between programs that provide TRC benefits and programs that don't; programs that provide rebates to consumers or programs that don't.  

     It's much more complicated than that.  So that was the first -- my first concern about the shareholder incentive structure.


The second is that there is no threshold for earning an incentive.  As I have noted in both my prefiled evidence and in evidence in the past, I believe if you're careful about setting a reasonable target, that there is no reason to provide an incentive for achieving less than about 75 percent of that target.  

     MR. POCH:  All right.  Can you turn, then, to your concerns with respect to the failure of the partial settlement, in your view, to provide appropriate direction on DSM priorities.  

     MR. NEME:  Yes.  The way I read the proposed settlement is that it essentially largely retains a very strong emphasis on short-term TRC.  And I want to be clear to say that I think short-term TRC is a good thing to acquire - TRC net economic benefits, that is - but it should not be the only goal.  

     I believe it is very important to ensure that there are significant investments in lost opportunity markets; that is, the markets where time-sensitive decisions are being made like new construction or equipment replacement.  

     Those investments and those kind of programs cannot only provide short-term TRC but lay the foundation for achieving and acquiring even greater levels of TRC in the future.  So it has an element of focussing on the long-term as well as the near-term.  

     Similarly, I believe it is important to ensure that there's some level of equity of access to DSM between rate classes, which is not embodied in the proposed settlement.  

     This is partially an equity issue, which is a policy objective.  But I believe it's even a little more than that.  

     If you truly want to build a culture of conservation in Ontario, it is important - this is again a longer term perspective - it is important that all rate classes have significant opportunities relative to the role they play in consuming gas.  

     That's a second reason for being concerned about ensuring that consumers have adequate access across all rate classes to those services.  

     The third, which I won't discuss much because Mr. Colton addressed it at length, was that there is no articulated policy principle regarding proportionality for low-income customers.  I'm not going to comment on absolute dollars and whether they would represent proportionality or not.  I think the important thing is to have a principle about proportionality articulated.  

     Then, finally, I don't think what's in the settlement regarding market transformation, particularly the way the company witnesses have interpreted what that means under cross, to be adequate.  I believe the utilities have missed the point a little bit about what market transformation is, for the reasons I articulated earlier.  

     MR. POCH:  All right.  Then can we turn to the last area of concern you have indicated, which is your concerns about the setting of TRC targets.  

     MR. NEME:  Yes.  I basically have a couple of concerns about the TRC targets.  The first relates to the initial target.  And the principal concern there is that we don't have the factual basis on the record to know whether that is an appropriate initial target or not.  

     We asked for but have not gotten the complete market potential study that Marbek conducted for Enbridge.  We don't have one for Union.  The companies have not provided a program portfolio that shows how they would achieve 150 or 188 million in TRC, and one needs to be able to look at that kind of portfolio and see how it adds up to determine whether it is easy or too easy or too difficult or just right.  

     The second concern I want to articulate has to do with the ratchet mechanism.  There are several concerns about this.  

The first is -- relates to some of the concerns that Pollution Probe has put to the utilities about how overachievements of the target in the first year would have the effects of raising targets in future years and therefore the marginal incentive rate for the utilities, all other things being equal, declines at some point.
     Very much related to that, I am concerned about the implications of the ratcheting mechanism for long-term planning.  If one were to, at the outset, establish three TRC targets for each of the three years and tell the utilities to go at it, they would be able to plan, over that three-year period, for how they would achieve those targets.
     With the ratchet mechanism, they actually don't note what their target is in the third year until probably something like six months into the third year, which makes it really difficult for them to plan in year 1 or even before year 1 for what they wants to be doing in year 3.  In a sense, that entrenches or brings us back to a focus on working one year at a time, which I thought, moving to a three-year plan, was designed to -- among other things, was designed to move us away from.
     MR. POCH:  All right.  With that, do you have any comment on what the Board -- in light of these concerns, what the Board should do in the sense of the process?  What should they do now?  What should they send us off to do in the next step?
     MR. NEME:  My recommendation would be that the Board establish -- first of all, adopt the policy principles that I have articulated, for example, with respect to budget; that the utilities should go after as much cost-effective DSM resource as possible subject to the two constraints I have articulated.  

They could go a step beyond that, and establish what a three-year budget trajectory should look like.  However, I would recommend against trying to set -- in this kind of proceeding when we don't have the evidence necessary to do a good job, I would recommend against adopting or setting TRC targets.
     I would recommend providing more specific direction to increase the amount of incentives available from a shareholder incentive perspective for market transformation; shift, in other words, a little bit more of the money away from the TRC to the market transformation goals.
     I would recommend that the Board also provide clear direction to the utilities that they should come up with market transformation performance goals, looking at market transformation the way it really should be, which is as programs that are designed to fundamentally change markets irrespective of whether they generate TRC, measurable TRC in the short term or not.
     MR. POCH:  Was there a direction with respect to lost opportunities as well?
     MR. NEME:  Yes.  I'm sorry.  I would also suggest that the Board require that the utilities spend at least 60 percent of their budgets on lost opportunity markets.  I would suggest that the Board adopt the proportionality principle with respect to spending on low-income.  I would propose that the Board require the utilities to spend approximately - at least over the three-year period - DSM funds on residential, commercial, and industrial customers approximately proportional to the revenues that those customers provide.
     MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  I hope we have avoided opening up a hornet’s nest that would require more evidence.
     MS. NOWINA:  We'll see, Mr. Poch.  

Mr. Millar.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Millar:
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Good afternoon, Mr. Neme.
     MR. NEME:  Good afternoon.
     MR. MILLAR:  You have actually some of my questions through your examination-in-chief, so I will probably be crossing off a few things as I go through.
     I will chiefly and perhaps exclusively be referring to your report, which is Exhibit L, tab 5, and for the most part I think I will be going through the portion C of your report, which essentially gives GEC's answers to the issues that are posed through the issues list.  Of course, I won't be hitting every single one of them, not even close.
     MR. NEME:  Thank you.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Neme, I will start with 1.1.  That's not going to be the trend, but very briefly on 1.1.  

You're suggesting that the utilities should file their plans eight to nine months in advance.  I don't know if you've paid much attention to how this issue has played out previously, but if I understand the utilities' position, they're proposing something more like four months.
     If I heard their reason for that, was that once you get to the end of the three-year plan, they want to have the audited figures from year 2 before they start planning for the next plan.  So they wouldn't have those eight to nine months in advance, but they would have them four months in advance.  

Do you have any cause for concern there?  Does that change your opinion?  Do you have a problem with four months?
     MR. NEME:  Well, I appreciate the concern that the -- I didn't -- I haven't read the portion of the transcript that relates to this issue, but as you explained it, I appreciate the concern the utilities have.  Of course, the more information we have on the table to develop plans, the better.
     I guess that, then, simply needs to be traded off against the steps that need to be able to take place, if there is a contested proceeding over what the next three-year plan should look like.
     My suggestion of eight months was trying to work backwards from making sure that there is a Board order prior to the three-year plan beginning, and then what would be involved in timeline for writing the Board order, and then for having a proceeding like this prior to it, and all of those things.
     If there is a way to compress that schedule so that that is possible to do in four months then - I struggled a little bit with how that might be possible - I would be -- there is nothing magic about the eight months, other than it was an attempt to make sure that you can have the complete process that may be necessary squeezed in before the three-year plan begins.
     MR. MILLAR:  So subject to that potentially important caveat, if the process can be squeezed in in four months, you're not opposed to four months?
     MR. NEME:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  1.3 deals with the financial budget.  You spent some time discussing this in your examination-in-chief.
     Now, I heard you say today that you were looking for 

-- the budget should be approximately 2 percent of gross   - not gross distribution - gross revenues?  I seem to recall it was 2 to 3 percent.
     MR. NEME:  I said at least 2 percent.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.
     MR. NEME:  As I noted in the Technical Conference and again today, when I picked those numbers, I had in mind what Enbridge's forecasted revenues were for 2006, which would put 2 percent at about -- in the $50 million a year range.  

I appreciate the arguments that have been made that commodity costs can move up and down quickly, and certainly one wouldn't want to, for that reason, explicitly tie, as a matter of a firm rule, spending to something that fluctuates so wildly.
     MR. MILLAR:  So is the 2 to 3 percent -- that's a guideline more than a firm rule?
     MR. NEME:  It is -- the guideline, the rule is the policy directive I suggested, which is that you go after as much as you can subject to concerns about undue rate impacts and ability to ramp up.  

What I was attempting to suggest here is that I think it would not be unreasonable to suggest that the -- given those constraints, that the utilities could ramp up to spending of $50 million a year or more by the third year of the next three-year plan.
     MR. MILLAR:  Do you favour setting the actual budgets in advance, though, for the three years?
     MR. NEME:  In advance of …
     MR. MILLAR:  When you establish the plan, will we set the budgets for one, two, and three at the beginning of the plan?
     MR. NEME:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  So that way you don't have to worry about the fluctuating gas costs you're using 2 to 3 percent as your --
     MR. NEME:  Absolutely.  When the utilities start their three-year plan, they should know what the budgets and what their performance targets are for those three years.
     MR. MILLAR:  Do you agree or it would be your proposal to the Board that it should be the same rule for both utilities?
     MR. NEME:  The same rule?  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  I guess maybe that's not a very clear question.  Should the utilities have exactly the same budget?  Or should it be based on a percentage of their gross revenues?
     MR. NEME:  I don't know that there is an absolute definitive line-in-the-sand answer on that one.
     I believe that it's probably reasonable for the budgets to be in the same neighbourhood as each other.  If they were a little bit different as a starting point, given that Union is starting a little further behind than Enbridge, at least on spending, that may not be a problem.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think you touch on this in your report, and maybe in your examination-in-chief:  Where do we start in year 1?  Are we right at the 2 percent at year 1 of the three-year plan?  

     MR. NEME:  No.  No.  I'm suggesting ramping up to spending about 50 million in year 3. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

     MR. NEME:  And I believe I suggested a trajectory that might make sense for Enbridge in the last DSM proceeding.  Let's see if I can pull that up.  

     Yes.  In rough terms, when I tried to build this up at the program level in the last proceeding, I suggested for Enbridge something like $30 million, $40 million, $50 million over the first, second, and third years would be reasonable and achievable.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if the Board were to adopt such a rule, you would think that would be a good thing?  

     MR. NEME:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Something similar for Union, if not exactly the same numbers, then in the same range?  

     MR. NEME:  Yes.  Again, you might want to start, in particular in the early years, a little bit lower for Union, given where they've been.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If we move to 1.4, I heard you to say when questioned by Mr. Poch -- I notice, first, you didn't specifically set a TRC target.  As you explained in your in-chief, you didn't think that this was necessarily the best forum in which to do that.  And you mentioned we might need some more information or something like that.  

     Can I ask you:  When do you think we should be setting the TRC target?  

     MR. NEME:  Not just the TRC target but market transformation targets as well.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 

     MR. NEME:  I believe both targets should be set as a result of the outcome of the three-year plan submissions that the utilities would make, following this proceeding.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, I think both of the utilities' current DSM plans expire at the ends of this calendar year.  We're already towards the end of July.  

     Are you concerned about a timing issue there?  Will the Board have time to run all of these processes and everything done and ready for January 1st?  

     MR. NEME:  That's a good question.  You said earlier that the utilities suggested they could do this in four months, which would mean they would have to be ready to put their plans on the table by the beginning of September, which, given that we're in mid-July, might be a little tight.  

     To be honest, I'm not exactly sure what might be the best way to address that.  You could do what is done in some jurisdictions, which is not finalize the plan -– actually, including this one in some past years -- which is certainly not ideal but is an option, given where we're at -- is to finalize what the plans, the three-year plans, look like some number of months into the first year.  At least that's better than doing it some months into a one-year plan, because, you know, you're proportionally a smaller way into the three-year cycle.  

Again, that is not optimal.  It would be nice if we weren't in that position, but that is one possibility.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you're not prepared to present a number here today or as part of this proceeding?  

     MR. NEME:  Correct.  I don't think it would be prudent to do so.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Issue 1.5 deals with the process and rules available to amend the DSM plan.  I note in your report that you suggest that the audit committee may have a significant role in this.  

     MR. NEME:  A significant role in proposing amendments to the plan?  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  

     MR. NEME:  I think that the -- I have to go back and look at the specific language that I drafted on this particular section.  But short of that, I will start by saying in general that what I have suggested throughout my evidence is that the role of the audit committee should be expanded to play a greater role in evaluation issues, as well as the annual audit.  And one of the things that that committee ought to be tasked with doing is basically helping to identify input assumptions that might need to be modified mid-course, and to the extent that those are contested by the parties, that that might trigger coming before the Board to amend the DSM plan.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, as I understand the complete settlement which was signed on by your client, the role of the audit committee is to be purely advisory.  Is that your understanding?  It won't have any binding power on the utilities. 

     MR. NEME:  I would have to go back and carefully parse the words out on that.  


    MR. POCH:  We're content to take that as stipulated, I think. 

     MR. NEME:  Okay.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you Mr. Poch.  Both the utilities proposed, not necessarily in exactly the same words but in terms of wherever there was to be a change to the architecture of the three-year plan, the fundamental underlying principles, whatever they may be; they were proposing what I characterized as an undue harm test, which would mean that you could only change the architecture of the plan if you were prepared to come to the Board and demonstrate that undue harm would result to a stakeholder if you didn't change the plan.  

     Do you have any comments on that?  Do you support that?  

     MR. NEME:  Well, I think what I said in my evidence is that while I appreciate that that would be an important consideration, that it ought not necessarily be the only one; that if there is -- it's looking at one side of the equation.  Is there undue harm?  Then there is the question of what's the cost?  Not just financial cost, but what's regulatory cost.  What's the cost, in terms of disruption to the market or whatever about making changes.  

     Subject to that kind of broader look at things, that seems like a not unreasonable place to go.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that. 

     MR. NEME:  Sorry for the double negative.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's quite all right.  

1.7, we have already touched on this.  I'll be very brief.  You support the proportionality principle.  1.7 is on what basis the DSM spending should be targeted amongst customer classes.   I heard you to say you support the proportionality principle?  

     MR. NEME:  I do.  There is probably one nuanced caveat that is worth adding to that point that I don't think has come out.  

     If you adopt the principle that the utilities should go after maximum cost-effective DSM resources, it may turn out that the maximum resources that are achievable are not entirely proportional to the revenues that come from those different classes.  

     So when you get to that, if you get to that end point of capturing of going after everything, it might be necessary to deviate a little bit from that proportionality argument.  

Given my experience and looking at the results of different assessments where DSM potential is, that is certainly possible, although not likely to be a dramatic deviation.  

     But when you are on a track to moving towards -– and not anticipating any particular three-year plan to get all of the cost-effective DSM -- one would want to have some level of proportionality in place, yes 

     MR. MILLAR:  Essentially similar to what I heard from the utilities when I put that question to them, and to paraphrase -- Mr. Smith or Mr. O'Leary will correct me if I'm wrong -- but I think what they were saying is there was a concern that if you adopt the proportionality principle, it is possible you won't even be able to spend that money cost-effectively under whatever customer classification.  

     Do you share that concern?  

     MR. NEME:  In theory, that may be possible.  So I guess in theory I think that is a legitimate concern.  But with respect to the next three-year plan, I do not think so, because I don't think we're anywhere close to capturing all the cost-effective potential in any market sector. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So in spite of the utilities' arguments on this, you're not convinced by that argument in this case?  

     MR. NEME:  Well, again, to be clear, we're mixing a couple of things.  From the overall policy perspective, if you were to reach your ultimate goal, that concern might come into play.  

     What I'm suggesting is that given where the utilities are now and even ramping up to the level of spending I'm proposing, we will not bump up against that constraint.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, I will move on.  

     Moving ahead to 3.2.  I understand you don't support the utilities' proposal there be a joint guide.  I have read your evidence.  If I've read your evidence correctly, isn't it true that you would have -- you wouldn't just have different TRC values for the different utilities?  In fact, it seems to me you would have different TRC values for different programs, even if it was the same technology.  Is that fair to say?
     MR. NEME:  Sure.  Just to give you a concrete example and explain why that would be appropriate, if you consider free-rider rates and take an example of a market like residential furnace sales and consider two different program designs, one in which -- in both cases, the utility is doing a lot of work to promote high-efficiency furnaces with their customers, through education and marketing; they're doing a lot of work with their HVAC trade allies to help them understand better how to sell efficient furnaces to their consumers and so on.  In both program designs, they’re doing both of those things.
     In one program design, on top of those what one might call market development activities, they're offering a $50 rebate.  In the other program design, they're offering a $500 rebate.  

If you consider those two different program designs, I would suggest to you that the free-rider rate will be very different in those two programs, and therefore the fact that it is an efficient furnace they're promoting in both cases is kind of irrelevant as to what the program design should be.
     It's entirely relevant to what the per-unit savings would be and what the incremental cost would be, but it would not be relevant, with respect to what the free-rider rate should be.
     Similarly -- or to give a different example, if the utility had -- if you imagine two different program designs.  In both cases, they're offering the same rebate, but in one case they're aggressively promoting it to consumers that are high users that have large houses and so on.  In the other case, they're marketing it much more broadly.  

One could argue that the per-unit savings would be different, because if you're promoting it in the program where you're promoting it to high users, the savings per unit are likely to be a lot higher.
     So it is absolutely true -- it is -- you know, it may be unfortunate in that it doesn't make things as easy as one might like, but it is absolutely true that program design affects the parameters that you would use to calculate the savings you're generating and the net benefits that flow from them.
     MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that no matter how you gets to the TRC values, that the Board has ultimate jurisdiction to approve the numbers?
     MR. NEME:  Of course.
     MR. MILLAR:  And that that goes for updates of the numbers as well?
     MR. NEME:  Sure.
     MR. MILLAR:  I know you suggest that the numbers be updated with the assistance of the audit committee.  I didn't -- I may have missed it.  I didn't see a next step where it would go to the Board.  If it's in there, I apologize.  You agree the Board is the one that will ultimately approve or not approve of any TRC input?
     MR. NEME:  Of course.  I think what I suggested in my written evidence is that the Board adopt the principle that there be a presumption that if you could reach consensus through the audit and evaluation committee, that those would be the default assumptions that should be used going forward.
     However, any party would be able to challenge them and petition the Board to have a hearing on whether they were reasonable or not, and ultimately the Board has to have the final say.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  I will put this question to you, but -- I think already I know the answer, but I put it to the utilities, so I will give you an opportunity as well.  Are you familiar with how the TRC guide was developed for the electric utilities?
     MR. NEME:  I'm not intimately familiar with that.
     MR. MILLAR:  In that case, there is a joint guide.  For that reason, I assume you wouldn't support that.  That is for some 80-some-odd electric LDCs, but the process there was the Board issued a draft TRC guide, allowed comments and argument on it, and then adopted a set of numbers, adopted a guide that applied to all of the electric LDCs.
     Do you have any comment on that type of process?
     MR. NEME:  Yes.  I think that –- well, as I said earlier, one of the dangers of -- it depends on how the guide is ultimately structured and what it ultimately governs.
     One potential danger -- and depending on how those rules all play out, one potential danger is you say the savings for this particular widget are X or the free-rider rate for that particular widget is Y, where those numbers the free-rider rate or per-unit savings are based on a presumption of a certain kind of program design.  Then you create all kinds of perverse incentives -- unless those numbers are tied, are in place only if the utilities pursue that particular kind of program design -- if you say those numbers are in place, no matter what program design the utilities pursue, you create some perverse incentives for them to go out and do some things that allow them to claim savings that probably wouldn't have occurred in the real world.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Under 3.5, I know you're submitting that the utilities should use identical avoided gas costs.
     MR. NEME:  I'm suggesting that they at least use identical avoided commodity costs.  I would suggest that it would be worth looking closely at whether it may be appropriate to go beyond that.
     There are a number of -- there may be some differences on avoided capital costs for things like pipeline and storage and so on.  And the Board would have to weigh whether those differences were worth having two different sets of costs.  

I will note that in some jurisdictions, like in my home state of Vermont, as well as in Massachusetts and some other places - because there are a number of programs administered at the state-wide or –- state-wide or province-wide level, and because that is the best way to make them effective - a determination has been made in those jurisdictions to use state-wide avoided costs even though there are multiple utilities within those states that may not have identical costs for things like avoided distribution costs.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  I'm going to move on to the SSM and 5.2.
     As an opening question:  Is it fair to say that -- imagine the Board did not accept your recommendation on setting a TRC target.  Could they simply -- could they use your SSM model with the TRC values that are proposed in the partial settlement?  Is there any reason you couldn’t do that?
     MR. NEME:  I'm not sure I understand the question.  Can you repeat it, please.
     MR. MILLAR:  Well, you're familiar with the TRC targets that have been proposed in the partial settlement.
     MR. NEME:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Obviously they're different from yours.  You haven't actually proposed any, but it is clearly different from yours.  Could you simply use their TRC numbers, then apply the SSM formula you have where you start getting an incentive at 75 percent and at 7.5 percent of every dollar of TRC net benefits?
     MR. NEME:  I would counsel against doing that, but, sure, it could be done.  I'm not sure -- there's a couple things to say about that, however.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.
     MR. NEME:  I'm not sure that at the budget levels that we are talking about and the TRC target levels that we are talking about that 7.5 percent would get you to the same point at 100 percent of target.  That's one thing you would want to look at.
     Then the other one is I've also suggested that a larger percentage of the shareholder incentive be tied to market transformation, as opposed to the TRC.  So that would be another thing to consider.  But the general principle about -- you know, let me try to paraphrase your question a little bit differently and tell me if this is what you had in mind.
     MR. MILLAR:  Sure.
     MR. NEME:  If the Board were to reject all of my other recommendations but simply set a threshold at 75 percent on the utilities' SSM trajectory and adjust the marginal rates so they end at the same rate as 100 percent, would that be an improvement?  Yes, it would be.  It would not be nearly enough of an improvement, in my view, with respect to the other issues, but I think it would be an improvement.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, before you go on, we were going to take a break this afternoon.  It is just after 3 o'clock.  Do you know how much longer you're going to be?
     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I'm nearly done.  I suspect another five to ten minutes.  But if you like, we can take the break.
     MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we will go ahead and take the break.  

We will take a 15-minute and return at 20 minutes past 3:00.
     --- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m. 

     --- Upon resuming at 3:15 p.m. 


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Before we resume, I would just like to make a comment about the order of argument.  My suggestion is the utilities first - you gentlemen tell me which one of you will go - then Board Staff, then SEC, then VECC, then GEC, then LIEN, then Pollution Probe, CCC, CME and Energy Probe.  That's just a proposal.  You can let me know whether or not you have any concerns with that.  And then reply argument, obviously.  

If you could talk to Mr. Bell about how much time you think you might take for your argument.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Excuse me.  I'm sorry, I think you forgot IGUA.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I did forget IGUA.  Yes.  All right.  We will stick IGUA in somewhere.  

     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I can tell you right now I had understood that the friendly on the financial issue intervenors were going to precede those of us in opposition.  I noticed you have CCC below me, for example. 

     MS. NOWINA:  I did tell Mr. Warren he could go on Thursday.  That's my problem, Mr. Poch.  

     MR. POCH:  Yes.  That brings me to the other point.  I was just talking to Mr. Millar about this.  I had taken this - and maybe mistakenly so - from our earlier discussion that with the company starting on Tuesday, some of the friendly intervenors might, if you will, argue Tuesday but that those of us in opposition wouldn't face that until Thursday morning at the earliest, so we would have a clear day to cogitate is, I think, the word I used. 

     If I could press the Board for that opportunity, I think that the Board would benefit by getting a better argument out of us; at least, a more concise one.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I hadn't tried to assign it into days, but that is more or less what I was thinking, in any case, Mr. Poch, that if we had the utilities and Board Staff and SEC and VECC on the Tuesday. 

     MR. POCH:  If that's the case, I'm happy for CCC to precede us on Thursday.  I'm sure I can react to them.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So if they go next, that will work.  And IGUA, then, on the Tuesday as well.  

     If you have any further thoughts about that, you can let me know on Monday, but that's -- I am assuming that you are beginning your preparation and that would give you a bit of a heads-up.  

Mr. Millar.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, it is my perhaps sad duty to announce there may be one other preliminary matter, but I will leave it to Mr. Shepherd to present.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I drew the short straw.  

We have done a little calculation, and it looks like there is it about an hour and 45 minutes of additional cross left of Mr. Neme.  And the question then arose:  Is it worthwhile to try to finish today, rather than have him fly back to Vermont and fly in again Monday for an hour or an hour-and-a-half?  So I put it to the panel what their preference might be.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let me ask my colleagues first.  

     [The Board confers] 

     MS. NOWINA:  If we should finish today, then, does that mean we're prepared to do argument on Monday?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think, Madam Chair, I can speak for everybody in the room, that there is not a groundswell of support for that concept.   

     MR. POCH:  I have every sympathy for my friend's counsel for the utilities, and of course that would give us the situation where we might not have a day after them to cogitate on the Wednesday, so it would hurt us too.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  It's not that the Board panel can't adjust our schedule to stay until 5:30.  We could.  But I'm wondering how fresh everyone is.  Mr. Neme's evidence is very important to us, and I think it would be best -- if that is the case, that means we won't take much time Monday morning.  We will certainly finish by lunch hour, which will allow people to go away and prepare their argument.  


What I would like to do is Mr. Millar finish his cross, and then we will resume on Monday at 10:00 to finish Mr. Neme's evidence.  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, that is perfectly acceptable.      I might just -- Mr. Buonaguro pointed out to me - and I am sure it was just an oversight - but I think we will have to fit Mr. Aiken into argument in LPMA as well, but I am sure we can slide him in.  

     MS. NOWINA:  He goes in the first category?  

     MR. SMITH:  He's a first category guy.  Whatever that means.  Whatever that means.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Millar  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR (CONT’D):

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Mr. Neme, I had taken you to issue 9.2.  Mr. Neme, just so I am sure, do you actually have a copy of your report in front of you? 

     MR. NEME:  I do.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Great.  In answer to this question, you indicate that you don't support –- well, you don't support a fixed budget.  You indicate it should vary from year to year.  I put this to the utilities:  Why can't we just take last year's budget and adjust it for CPI or something like that?  Why can't we have a nice firm rule like that? 

     MR. NEME:  I'm sorry, which issue are you on?  

     MR. MILLAR:  9.2. 

     MR. NEME:  You're talking about an evaluation budget? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I’m sorry.  We're way off SSM now into an entirely new area.  

Issue 9.2 is what is the appropriate level of funds that should be budgeted for an evaluation report and audit.  You suggested it should vary from year to year.  The question I'm putting to you is:  Why can't we just fix that amount, presumably based on last year, and adjust it for CPI or whatever, but why can't we have a fixed amount?  

     MR. NEME:  You're talking about just the evaluation report and audit, or are you talking about evaluation more broadly?  

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think that is where I got into trouble with the utilities.  Maybe you could answer both questions.  

     MR. NEME:  One would imagine that the evaluation report and the costs for the evaluation report and the audit are less likely to vary as significantly from year to year, although the specifics of what happens in a particular year could lead to the need for some difference, which is why I would be nervous about putting in some hard and fast rule that just gets ratcheted up with inflation.  

     That concern is compounded several-fold when you get to evaluation issues more broadly for several reasons, one of which is that the evaluation issues that may arise in a particular year may be very different from those that arose in the previous year, and the cost of addressing them might be very different as well.  That's one thing.  

     Another concern would be that for some types of evaluations you wouldn't necessarily want to do them every year.  

For example, some of the assessments of free-rider rates for a particular custom project program design, for example, which can be an involved kind of evaluation, and because it can get expensive if you're doing it well, you wouldn't necessarily want to try to pursue it every year, and that would lead to some lumpiness as you go from year to year in evaluation budgets.  

So I think the bigger -- I think is it more appropriate to have a sense of what the budget should be over the entire three-year period and allow for the flexibility that is necessary to address the important differences that occur as you move from year to year within that period.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  

     Moving on now to the (10) series of issues, which is market transformation and lost opportunity.  I take it from your evidence in-chief that a million dollars for market transformation is not enough.  Is that right?  

     MR. NEME:  Well, I think the issue is broader than that.  As I understand it, from reading the transcript or the portion of the transcript during which the utilities' witnesses were crossed on this question, they were -- they clarified that what they meant by “market transformation” for that one million dollar pot was what one of the witnesses called "pure market transformation,” whatever that means.
     I take it that what they really meant by that is efforts at working with the market that do not involve or would not result in program participants, TRC savings and, by extension, consumer incentives.  

As I noted in my evidence in-chief, I think that's a  -- as I believe Dan Violette very aptly pointed out when he was on the witness stand, that's a problematic view of what market transformation is.
     Market transformation, pure and simple, is about creating fundamental changes in the market.  And, in fact, if you look at tab 7 in the GEC materials where there is a slide, a PowerPoint slide excerpted from a presentation that I believe was one Ann Wilson made -- I'm sorry, Ann Wilkins from NRCan made about how market transformation works, you can see that -- you know, this is obviously somewhat simplistic in that it is presenting a model, a single model, and there is always going to be variations from one type of program to the next or from one market to the next or from one effort to the next; but in general, it is quite common to pay significant incentives as part of market transformation efforts in the early few years to program participants, who could therefore be tracked and produce TRC net benefits.
     Ideally, as you condition the market, you get suppliers to stock efficient products or you get builders used to trying new techniques.  You get consumers beginning to demand them and so on.  You can tail off or drop down those incentives over time.
     So I think there is a fundamental problem with the way the utilities have defined what that one million dollar -- in their cross what that one million dollar pool of money is for.
     MR. MILLAR:  So you think the actual range of market transformation activities is much broader than that?
     MR. NEME:  I think it is, and as a result, I think it doesn't make sense to try to say, Here's our resource acquisition pool of funds and here is our market transformation pool of funds somewhere else and identify them as two separate pots.
     They ought to be parallel objectives of the same pool of funds and you ought to identify or to ensure that there is some emphasis on market transformation in the utilities' DSM portfolio, a few particular markets that you want them to focus on, on market transformation efforts on that might involve also generating TRC, set performance targets for those, and assign shareholder incentives to meeting them.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I understand now.  So you don't think there should be a market transformation budget per se at all.  It is part of the global budget.
     MR. NEME:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And you wouldn't necessarily earmark a certain set of funds for market transformation?
     MR. NEME:  That's correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You talked about tying it into the SSM.  As you're aware, in the partial settlement, at least, as the utilities define “market transformation,” they've proposed a different -- the incentives there into the SSM.  It is a maximum $500,000 in any particular year that would be achieved, depending on certain targets that are predefined in the programs they propose.
     Could you help me out with your alternative which, if I heard you correctly, is to work the market transformation incentives into the SSM.
     MR. NEME:  I'm not sure I said that exactly.  Let me try to clarify.
     I believe there should be one budget without those two separate components.  I believe there should be performance targets put before the utilities for both TRC, that you can count, and for specific market transformation objectives.  I gave some examples of those in my evidence in the last, the 2006 Enbridge DSM proceeding.
     So it might be such things as increase the market share for homes built to the Energy Star standards of 15 percent by the end of the third year or -- one can come up with many different ones.  In fact, I think in interrogatory responses I gave some other examples.  

So you would have a TRC target.  And then you would have, say, three different market transformation performance targets.
     With respect to the market transformation performance targets, you would want to assign certain shareholder incentive dollar values to achieving them.  

So you might say that if you get to that Energy Star homes market share, you get the $500,000 incentive and you might pick a 75 percent threshold if you get three-quarters of the way there, you start earning something towards that.
     MR. MILLAR:  So your proposal, at least in terms of performance targets, you may have some quibble with the amount of the incentive - I'm not sure you did do - but their proposal that in some cases it is appropriate to have an incentive that is outside of the SSM mechanism, you don't necessarily have a problem with that?
     MR. NEME:  Just to be clear.  Well, two things:  I do have a concern about the amount of money they've said should be associated with shareholder incentives for market transformation.  I don't think I would put a little less on the TRC and a little bit more on market transformation.
     Secondly, just to be clear about your other part of your question.  I agree with what you said about the need to have separate performance targets for market transformation objectives; however, I'm not sure if this is what you were thinking of, but I want to be clear about it.  

To take the example I gave.  If one of those targets is to achieve a certain market share for Energy Star homes, the utilities would get rewarded if they met that performance target.  But that is not -- that is separate in the sense that it's an extra pool of -- pool of funds they can access for their shareholders.
     But the TRC benefits that participants in their Energy Star homes program bring should be counted towards their TRC goal as well.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, that's helpful.
     You'll be happy to hear I'm almost done.
     I will move to the last series of issues, issue 15.  I'm looking, in particular, at 15.1.  And I put your answer under 15.1 to the utilities, and they didn't seem to agree with it.  But maybe I will ask for a little bit more clarification first.  

The first sentence reads:

“Gas utilities' interest in electric DSM should be limited to leveraging it to better promote gas DSM.”

     Is it possible to nail that definition down a little bit further?  It seems there may have been some confusion as to exactly what would qualify under that definition.  

I will give you an example.  You're familiar with Enbridge's TAPS program, I assume?
     MR. NEME:  I am.
     MR. MILLAR:  As part of that program, they have adopted certain electricity CDM activities; I think they will set pipe wrap or whatever for electric water heaters, instead of gas waters heaters, and I believe they might hand out a few CFL light bulbs or something like that.  

Would that meet the definition that you've set out under 15.1?
     MR. NEME:  It would.  And the reason that it would is that it's where there are synergies to be had between electric and gas DSM objectives, one ought to try to seize them.
     So rather than sending a gas service provider to a home to install gas measures and then have the electric companies come back the next day with their own service provider to screw in some light bulbs, I think it is eminently reasonable to suggest that the two ought to coordinate with each other so they jointly send one person to the home.  It's a less expensive way of delivering services and would, therefore, lower the budget requirement for both of them, conceivably for delivering those services, which would free up dollars from their budget to spend on acquiring additional TRC through other means.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

If we look at 15.3.  This relates to what incentives, if any, should be paid for electric CDM activities.  Your answer is that they should receive -- they should not receive any incentives other than those they would earn as a result of enabling their gas DSM budget to accomplish more.  That's discussed under 15.2 a little bit more.
     Let me put a slightly different proposal to you.  As you may be aware, in the previous Enbridge rates case that dealt with CDM where Enbridge collects a fee-for-service from a particular electric utility to assist it with its CDM initiatives, I think the example we had was Toronto Hydro pays Enbridge to hand out the CFL, or whatever it is that they do; Enbridge receives a fee for that.  And part of that fee is profit, if I can call it that.  The Board required that that profit, at least for 2005, be split equally between the shareholder - pardon me, for 2006 - between the shareholder and ratepayer.  


I know that’s not what you're proposing, but do you have any comments on a situation like that?  

     MR. NEME:  Yes.  As I noted in my evidence, I don't think that that is the appropriate way to go.  When you say "profit," you mean -- you know, we need to be careful about what we mean by “profit.”  

     If, for example, it costs the gas company a fixed cost of, let's say, just to pick round numbers, $50 to get to the home, and then on top of that it costs them whatever it costs for both the materials and the labour to install pipe wrap and showerheads and whatever on gas-consuming appliances - or water-consuming appliances if it’s on a gas water heater - if you define as "profit" the -– and then they screw in five light bulbs, and let's say the incremental cost of doing that is 25 bucks.  If the electric utility pays them $75 for that, are you suggesting the profit is the $50 over and above the incremental costs of installing the light bulbs and that the gas company should share half of that?  

That makes no sense to me, if that is the case, because what you have there is the gas ratepayers bearing the full cost, the $100 or $50, of getting to the home in the first place and then the utility pocketing profits, because the ratepayers are paying for that service delivery.  

I would suggest that the gas company ought to do the best it can in negotiating with the electric company to cover as large a portion as they can get them to cover of the fixed costs of service delivery in that particular example, which would enable them to free up more gas DSM dollars to spend on other things, which would in turn generate more TRC, which would in turn generate them additional shareholder incentives through both their and my proposed shareholder incentive mechanism.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Neme, thank you for your patience.  It’s getting late on Friday afternoon, and those are the end of my questions.  

     MR. NEME:  Thank you.

  
PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Before we break, can I get an order of cross-examination for Mr. Neme?  

     MR. SMITH:  I think I will be first up.  I expect I will be about 20 minutes.  I'm sorry, I'd forgotten about those would be –- as much as I like Mr. Neme, I don't think we're friendly.  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think I will be first. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay, Mr. Klippenstein.  

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  I think I will follow. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Abouchar.  Thank you.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I think I would be then following Mr. Smith if we followed the same order as last time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  That's okay.  It’s late in the day.  

Anyone else?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then, Madam Chair, I will be following Mr. O'Leary.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary.  Thank you.  

     MR. RUBIN:  I'm down for 20 minutes, which may shrink.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.  

That ends our proceeding for today.  We will resume at 10 o'clock on Monday morning.  

     --- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.  
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